

AFRL-RH-FS-TR-2015-0021

Risk Mitigation during Human Electromuscular Incapacitation Research

John A. Gibbons Human Effectiveness Directorate Bioeffects Division

> April 2015 Final Report

<u>**DESTRUCTION NOTICE</u>** – Destroy by any method that will prevent disclosure of contents or reconstruction of this document.</u>

Distribution A. Approved for public release; distribution unlimited. PA Case No TSRL-PA-2015-0021, Date Cleared: Nov. 4, 2015 Air Force Research Laboratory 711th Human Performance Wing Human Effectiveness Directorate Bioeffects Division Fort Sam Houston, Texas 78234-2644

NOTICE AND SIGNATURE PAGE

Using Government drawings, specifications, or other data included in this document for any purpose other than Government procurement does not in any way obligate the U.S. Government. The fact that the Government formulated or supplied the drawings, specifications, or other data does not license the holder or any other person or corporation; or convey any rights or permission to manufacture, use, or sell any patented invention that may relate to them.

Qualified requestors may obtain copies of this report from the Defense Technical Information Center (DTIC) (http://www.dtic.mil).

Risk Mitigation During Human Electromuscular Incapacitation Research (AFRL-RH-FS-TR-2015-0021) has been reviewed and is approved for publication in accordance with assigned distribution statement.

JOHNSON.LELAND.R Digitally signed by JOHNSON.LELAND.R.1161902612 DN: c=US, o=US. Government, ou=DoD, ou=PKI, ou=USAF, cm=JOHNSON.LELAND.R.1161902612 Date: 2015.11.30 10:32:46-0600'

LELAND JOHNSON, DR-III, DAF Contract Monitor Radio Frequency Bioeffects Branch

MILLER.STEPHANIE. Digitally signed by MILLER.STEPHANIE.A.1230536283 DN: c=US, Government, ou=DoD, ou=PKI, ou=USAF, cn=MILLER.STEPHANIE.A.1230536283 Date: 2015.12.01 11.33.41 -0600

STEPHANIE A. MILLER, DR-IV, DAF Chief, Bioeffects Division Human Effectiveness Directorate 711th Human Performance Wing Air Force Research Laboratory

This report is published in the interest of scientific and technical information exchange, and its publication does not constitute the Government's approval or disapproval of its ideas or findings.

			Form Approved						
		CUMENTATIO			OMB No. 0704-0188				
maintaining the data ne suggestions for reducir Suite 1204, Arlington, V information if it does no	eeded, and completing and re ng this burden to Department /A 22202-4302. Responder ot display a currently valid ON	eviewing this collection of informati of Defense, Washington Headqua tts should be aware that notwithsta IB control number. PLEASE DO I	on. Send comments regarding rters Services, Directorate for Ir unding any other provision of law	this burden estimate on nformation Operations w, no person shall be s O THE ABOVE ADDR	tions, searching existing data sources, gathering and r any other aspect of this collection of information, including and Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, ubject to any penalty for failing to comply with a collection of ESS.				
	E (DD-MM-YYYY)	2. REPORT TYPE			DATES COVERED (From – To)				
30-04-2015 4. TITLE AND SU			Final		Jan 2015 - Apr 2015 5a. CONTRACT NUMBER				
4. IIILE AND SU	DITILE			Ja. N/					
Dick Mitigation	during Human El	ectromuscular Incapaci	tation Desearch		GRANT NUMBER				
Kisk Wittgatio	i during riuman Ek	cuoniusculai meapael	tation Research	N/					
				5c.	PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER				
				622	202F				
6. AUTHOR(S	6)			5d. 77:					
John A. Gibbor	15				TASK NUMBER				
				HI	WORK UNIT NUMBER				
					HC04				
		AME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)		PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT				
	arch Laboratory			1	NUMBER				
	Performance Wing								
		Bioeffects Division		N/.	A				
	ton, Texas 78234-2								
	Center of Excellen	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							
		ENCY NAME(S) AND AD	DRESS(ES)		SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)				
	arch Laboratory Performance Wing								
		Bioeffects Division		11.	SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT				
	ton, Texas 78234-2				NUMBER(S)				
	Center of Excellen			AF	RL-RH-FS-TR-2015-XXXX				
12. DISTRIBUTIO	ON / AVAILABILITY S	TATEMENT							
Distribution A.	Approved for public	e release; distribution ur	limited. PA Case No	TSRL-PA-2015	-0021, Date Cleared: Nov. 4, 2015				
13. SUPPLEMEN									
Funding for this effort was provided by the Joint Non-Lethal Weapons Directorate.									
14. ABSTRA	СТ								
United States	s military emplo	went of Human E	Electromuscular Ir	ncapacitatior	n (HEMI) began after a 2003				
					erate at multiples of five seconds				
1		1 .		1	II capabilities that exceed these				
					HECOE) undertook two reviews				
		,		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
					or Risk Assessment focused on				
					l Research Unit-San Antonio				
					report covers the six topics				
included in t	he 2012 NAMR	U-SA report, risks	identified from ci	ivilian law e	nforcement activities, and HEMI				
	rch since 2012.								
15. SUBJECT TE			. 1	41					
					capture, ventricular fibrillation,				
	ression fracture, hy			uosis, iactic ac	idosis, electrolyte imbalance, seizure,				
16. SECURITY C	LASSIFICATION OF		17. LIMITATION	18. NUMBER	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON				
			OF ABSTRACT	OF PAGES	J. Fleming				
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE	SAR	41	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (include area				
Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified			code) (210) 539-8552				

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	INTRODUCTION	1
2.0	RISKS OF ELECTROMUSCULAR INCAPACITATION	2
2.1	Muscle Injury	2
2.2	Cardiac Effects - Rhythm Disturbances	4
2.3	Cardiac Effects - Myocardial Injury	9
2.4	Respiratory Dysfunction	11
2.5	Electrolyte Imbalances	16
2.6	Seizures	20
2.7	Vertebral Compression Fractures	21
2.8	Other Findings	21
3.0	DISCUSSION	
3.1	Muscle Injury Risks	
3.2	Cardiac Rhythm Disturbance Risks	24
3.3	Myocardial Injury Risks	25
3.3	Respiratory Dysfunction Risks	25
3.3	Electrolyte Imbalances Risks	
3.3	Seizure Risks	
4.0	RECOMMENDATIONS	

LIST OF TABLES

- Table 1Blood chemistry changes during 12 minutes of electromuscular incapacitation.
- Table 2Blood chemistry changes during 22.5 minutes of electromuscular incapacitation.

ABBREVIATIONS

AED	Automated external defibrillator
СК	Creatine kinase - total
CK-MB	Creatine kinase - cardiac muscle isoenzyme
CK-MM	Creatine kinase - skeletal muscle isoenzyme
CO_2	Carbon dioxide
dL	tenth (deci) of a liter
ED	Emergency Department
EKG	Electrocardiogram
EMI	Electromuscular incapacitation
HCO ₃	Bicarbonate
HECOE	Human Effects Center of Excellence
HEMI	Human electromuscular incapacitation
Hg	Mercury (from Latin Hydrargyrum)
L	Liter
L2	Second lumbar vertebra
mEq/L	thousandths (milli) of an equivalent per liter
mg	thousandths (milli) of a gram
mĽ	thousandth (milli) of a liter
mm	thousandths (milli) of a meter
mM/L	thousandths (milli) of a mole per liter
NAMRU-SA	Naval Medical Research Unit-San Antonio
NIJ	National Institute of Justice
O_2	Oxygen
pCO ₂	Partial pressure of carbon dioxide
PEA	Pulseless electrical activity
pg	trillionth (pico) of a gram
pН	Potential of hydrogen
pO ₂	Partial pressure of oxygen
PVC	Premature ventricular contraction
SEF	Spectral frequency
T6	Sixth thoracic vertebra
TASER©	Thomas A. Swift's electric rifle
TERA	Toxicology Excellence for Risk Assessment

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Background

United States military employment of Human Electromuscular Incapacitation (HEMI) began after a 2003 request from US Army forces in Iraq. Currently available HEMI devices operate at multiples of five seconds duration and distances up to 32 feet. Operational forces have requested HEMI capabilities that exceed these current limits. To date only TASER® International, Inc. funded researchers have published studies of extended duration HEMI exposures. To define the risks, the Human Effects Center of Excellence (HECOE) undertook two reviews of risk associated with HEMI. The 2005 review by the Directed Energy Bioeffects Division focused on identifying where effects research was needed, while the 2012 Naval Medical Research Unit-San Antonio (NAMRU-SA) technical report covered HEMI effects research to date. The NAMRU-SA report identified six effects with a risk of significant injury: rhabdomyolysis (muscle injury), cardiac effects, respiratory dysfunction, electrolyte imbalances, seizures, and vertebral compression fractures. These six risks, plus risks identified from civilian law enforcement activities, and HEMI effects research since 2012, are covered in this report.

Research Findings

Muscle injury can occur before symptoms appear. Blood levels of the proteins, creatine kinase (CK) and myoglobin, are used to detect early injury. CK, an enzyme released from damaged muscle cells, increased more than 100-fold for some individuals after a single five second HEMI exposure, though mean CK increases were small. Elevated myoglobin levels pose a risk of kidney damage. No extended exposure HEMI study has measured serum myoglobin levels.

Cardiac effects carry two different risks, rhythm disturbances and myocardial injury. The incidence of cardiac rhythm disturbances is very dependent upon the orientation of HEMI electrodes with respect to the heart. Cardiac capture is the most likely disturbance to occur and was documented during one research study. Ventricular fibrillation has been induced in animals but requires 12 times the energy as required for cardiac capture. Myocardial injury is a special form of muscle injury. Blood biomarkers for this include a specific form of creatine kinase, CK-MB, and Troponin I. Changes can also occur in the electrocardiogram (EKG) with myocardial injury, such as a myocardial infarction or heart attack. No HEMI study has found evidence of myocardial injury, though one case report found EKG changes and elevations of both CK-MB and Troponin I after HEMI use during law enforcement. The electrodes attached close to the thorax overlying the heart, the area with the greatest risk for cardiac rhythm disturbance. No information was given about the HEMI device used.

Respiratory dysfunction may occur due to restricted movement of the muscles of ventilation. Respiratory acidosis is a significant physiological disturbance after EMI stimulation greater than five seconds duration. Results from studies of extended duration EMI exposure in animals show significant respiratory acidosis. Studies of HEMI exposures up to 30 seconds duration do not show this effect, though respiratory data from these studies suggest that participants were hyperventilating prior to the exposures Electrolyte imbalances during and after EMI exposure have been shown to cause acidosis, primarily of metabolic rather than respiratory origin. A 10-second HEMI exposure caused significant changes in pH, lactate, and potassium levels.

Seizures are a possibility only if one or both HEMI electrodes attach to the head.

Recommendations

- 1. Serum CK and myoglobin levels should be monitored for all experimental HEMI exposures.
- 2. It is prudent to limit extended duration human EMI exposures to 10 seconds until additional data is available to confirm or refute electrolyte level changes reported to date. This also keeps HEMI exposures short until the absence of respiratory dysfunction is verified.
- 3. Specific monitoring for cardiac muscle injury is not warranted, based upon the currently available literature. Individuals with known cardiac disease or strong risk factors, based upon the American Heart Association/American College of Sports Medicine Health/Fitness Facility Pre-participation Screening Questionnaire should be excluded from participation in HEMI studies.
- 4. Placing the HEMI electrodes with a right ventral, trans-diaphragmatic orientation appears best to minimize the risk of cardiac rhythm effects and not increase the risk of vertebral compression fracture. This orientation also avoids the risk of a seizure.
- 5. Pre- and post-exposure skin examination will be required during HEMI experiments to assess the presence or absence of electrical burn. Persons with a history of keloid formation should be excluded from participation in HEMI studies.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This paper will cover six topics included in the 2012 Naval Medical Research Unit-San Antonio (NAMRU-SA) report on Human Electromuscular Incapacitation (HEMI) effects research to date.¹ Cardiac rhythm effects and myocardial injury are presented as separate topics. Additional effects reported in the open literature will be included where relevant to human use research.

HEMI has been in use by law enforcement officers for decades. United States military employment of this technology began after a 2003 request from US Army forces in Iraq. The Joint Non-Lethal Weapons Program funded development of a hand-held device to fulfill this request. Currently available HEMI devices operate at multiples of five seconds duration and distances up to 32 feet. Operational forces have requested HEMI capabilities that exceed these current limits. There is little research on HEMI exposures greater than five seconds and incapacitating a human at distance by a wireless device presents development challenges. To define the risks, the Human Effects Center of Excellence (HECOE) has undertaken two reviews of risk associated with HEMI. The 2005 review by Toxicology Excellence for Risk Assessment (TERA) focused on identifying where effects research was needed, while the 2012 Naval Medical Research Unit-San Antonio (NAMRU-SA) technical report covered HEMI effects research to date.^{2,1} Reviews of HEMI device use in civilian law enforcement activities offer additional information on risks from operational exposures.

In 2005, TERA published a technical report, AFRL-BR-TR-2005-0016, titled Human Effectiveness and Risk Characterization of the Electromuscular Incapacitation Device - A Limited Analysis of the TASER[®].² Five effects were identified as posing major concerns with short duration exposures and two additional effects were associated with extended duration exposures. The short duration effect of interest is electromuscular incapacitation (EMI). The short duration effects of concern included: ocular injury, seizures, ventricular fibrillation, and fall injuries. EMI was found to be reversible with none or minimal medical intervention. Seizures were also predicted to require minimal medical intervention, though there is no experimental data supporting this. Fall injuries were determined to range from minor to life threatening. Ocular injury was dart-related and assessed as requiring medical attention for full recovery otherwise there is a risk of permanent disability. Ventricular fibrillation was cited as life threatening. The extended-duration HEMI effects of potential concern were acute respiratory impairment and rhabdomyolysis. Aspects of exposure relevant to assessment of operational utility were discussed, though they were not felt to directly pertain to research on the human effects of HEMI. These included: dart strike locations, dart penetration locations, distance between dart strikes, effect of clothing, and completion of a circuit. Burns and lacerations were considered to pose minimal severity. This report served as a guidepost for further research efforts.

In 2012, the NAMRU-SA authored a technical report, NAMRU-SA TR 2012-01, titled Risk and Effects Assessment of Electro-Muscular Incapacitation (EMI) Technologies.¹ This was a comprehensive review of published papers relevant to EMI effects. They identified six effect categories with a risk for significant injury. These include: rhabdomyolysis (muscle injury), cardiac effects, respiratory dysfunction, electrolyte imbalances, seizures, and vertebral compression fractures. This report provides a comprehensive review of injury risks associated

1

with EMI exposures. A review of the pertinent references, relevant papers since 2012, and conclusions from the NAMRU-SA report are included in this current paper to ensure accurate descriptions of EMI effects and risk mitigation.

HEMI devices employed by civilian law enforcement activities primarily consist of devices produced by TASER® International, Inc. Hundreds of studies, reviews, and opinion pieces have been published about TASER® devices. Bozeman et al. published the largest study to date, prospectively collected three years of data on injuries from law enforcement use of conducted electrical weapons.³ Of a total of 1201 cases, 938 had no injuries, 260 had mild injuries, two had moderate injuries, and one had a severe injury. The majority of the mild injuries were superficial puncture wounds from the electrode darts. Other mild injuries and the two moderate injuries were related to falls. Two mild injuries were superficial burn marks, presumably from the electrical discharges. The severe injury was muscle injury that developed after the targeted individual used crack cocaine, ran from police, struggled, and received three discharges from a TASER®, all on a hot summer day. Two other men died unexpectedly while in police custody of probable medical causes. These findings are consistent with the effects identified in the two HECOE reviews.

Past researchers frequently studied more than one effect in a given study. To better facilitate understanding of a specific EMI risk, relevant portions from a study may be presented in more than one topic area. Research is reported chronologically, to give the reader a view of how EMI effects knowledge has increased over time. In addition to the six topics mentioned, relevant findings from animal and human studies of EMI, such as long duration exposures, are included.

2.0 RISKS OF ELECTROMUSCULAR INCAPACITATION

2.1 Muscle Injury

Muscle injury associated with HEMI may occur due to stressful muscle contraction, like exercising too much, or injury due to the passage of electric current. Because all body tissues are not perfect conductors, some electrical energy is converted to heat, causing local burns. Burns cause the release of cellular contents into the space surrounding cells and these contents eventually enter the circulation. Rhabdomyolysis occurs when the protein myoglobin is released from damaged muscle cells. Myoglobin is injurious to the kidneys. CK is another protein released from injured muscle cells. CK occurs in different forms called isozymes. The CK-MM isozyme is more specific for skeletal muscle, whereas the CK-MB isozyme is more specific for skeletal muscle, whereas the CK-MB isozyme is more specific for injury than myoglobin. Several studies of HEMI have included CK, CK isozymes, and/or myoglobin to assay for muscle injury.

Ho et al. studied 66 volunteers during a TASER training course in April 2005. Each participant received a five second exposure from a TASER X26 device.⁴ Blood samples were collected at baseline, immediately after exposure, at 16 hours postexposure, and at 24 hours post-exposure. Mean serum myoglobin increased from 32.4 ng/mL to 45.5 ng/mL immediately after exposure, and 51.3 ng/mL after 24 hours. These values are within the normal range. The highest

myoglobin level reported was 167 ng/mL for one volunteer immediately after exposure. Mean serum CK levels were 184.1 U/L at baseline and unchanged after exposure, but increased to 221.6 U/L and 242.3 U/L after 16 and 24 hours, respectively. These serum creatine levels show a modest elevation above the normal range and the highest level reported was 909 U/L. Similar changes in myoglobin and CK can be seen with exercise.

Jauchem et al. exposed ten swine to a series of three 5-second EMI bursts, with 5-seconds recovery between bursts.⁵ Venous blood samples were taken before EMI exposure, immediately afterward, and then every 30 minutes until 3-hours after the EMI exposure. Serum myoglobin was significantly elevated from baseline at 30 minutes after EMI exposure, though the approximately 5 ng/mL elevation was not clinically significant. Serum myoglobin levels were not reported for the other post-exposure time points. Serum CK-MM and total CK were elevated immediately post-exposure and continued to rise with each subsequent blood sample. All of the elevated CK-MM and total CK levels were of equal or lesser magnitude than levels seen after sustained exercise.

Criscione studied changes in serum myoglobin and total CK levels in 32 volunteers.⁶ Volunteers received a five second exposure from a TASER X-26 device. Blood was drawn at baseline, immediately post-exposure, and 24 hours after exposure. Mean serum myoglobin was 36.8 ng/mL at baseline, 44.7 ng/mL after exposure, and 37.9 ng/mL 24 hours later. There was no significant difference at any time point. Mean serum CK was 313.5 UI/L at baseline, 306.1 IU/L after exposure, and 326.5 IU/L 24 hours later. Serum CK was elevated at 24 hours after exposure, though this was not clinically significant. The natural logarithm (ln) of serum CK levels was calculated to normalize the results. The mean ln of serum CK was 5.6 UI/L at baseline, 5.6 IU/L after exposure, and 5.7 IU/L after 24 hours. Again, no significant difference between the three points in time was found.

Strote et al. reviewed 1,101 police reports of EMI discharges and obtained medical records for 866 subjects.⁷ Two hundred seventy-one adults were seen in an Emergency Department (ED). Serum CK levels were obtained only for 23 adults. Ten subjects had total CK levels above 1000 IU/L, the upper limit for a normal male adult being 200 IU/L. This represents over 43% of the adults tested, but testing may have been ordered only where there was clinical suspicion of a significant muscle injury. This is a potential limitation of retrospective reviews. Assuming that the ED physicians did not omit anyone with a potential muscle injury, 10 adults out of 271 seen yields a 3.7% incidence of elevated CK. Assuming that the findings from the 23 adults tested can be extrapolated to the untested adults, an additional 108 adults had elevated CK results.

Ho et al. compared serum measures of metabolic activity and catecholamine levels across five different scenarios: a 150-yard sprint plus a 44-inch hurdle, 45 seconds of striking a heavy bag, a 10-second TASER X-25 EMI exposure, sprinting from a trained K-9 unit while wearing a protective suit, and a spray of oleoresin capsaicin spray to the face and neck.⁸ Data was analyzed from a total of 60 subjects who were divided into five groups of 12 subjects. Total CK levels were obtained at baseline and 24 hours later. Only the sprint condition showed a significant elevation at the 24-hour point. CK has a serum half-life of 12 hours. Any clinically significant elevation resulting from one of the five different scenarios should still be present 24 hours after cessation of the activity.

Dawes et al. pooled data from five EMI studies.⁹ EMI exposure durations ranged from 5 - 30 seconds. Two models of EMI devices and different electrode arrangements were used for each of the experiments. All studies used the TASER X-26 device except the 30-second exposures which utilized the TASER C2 device. Baseline total CK levels ranged from 12 - 1956 IU/L. with a median of 145 IU/L. The change in total CK levels ranged from -1054 to +2309 IU/L, with a median of +26.5 IU/L, for five-second EMI exposures and from -205 to +25452 IU/L, with a median of +303 IU/L, for 10-second exposures. For 30-second exposures total CK ranged from -140 to +364 IU/L, with a median of +47 IU/L. Data was analyzed in aggregate, so a comparison between five-second and 10-second exposures, both which used the TASER X-26, was not made. Both, the 5- and 10-second X-26 exposure studies showed an increase in total CK levels associated with longer EMI exposures, though a statistical analysis cannot be done without the original data.

In a second study, Dawes et al. exposed 53 volunteers to a TASER X3 device for 10 seconds duration.¹⁰ Participants were divided into three groups with different ventral electrode orientation locations: two upper thoracic electrodes, two upper thoracic and one abdominal or thigh electrode, and two upper thoracic and two abdominal or upper thigh electrodes. Each HEMI exposure lasted 10 seconds. Mean serum CK at baseline for Group 1 was 143 U/L, for Group 2 was 126 U/L, and for Group 3 was 183.5 U/L. After 24 hours, mean serum CK for Group 1 was 245 U/L, for Group 2 was 1544.4 U/L, and for Group 3 was 1622.0 U/L. The difference for Group 3 was statistically significant. The authors note that many of the participants were unable to comply with a post-exposure exercise restriction. The use of multiple stimulation electrodes may have contributed to higher CK levels for Groups 2 and 3 through greater muscle activation.

2.2 Cardiac Effects - Rhythm Disturbances

A 2011 report by the National Institute of Justice (NIJ) identified five cardiac rhythm effects as posing a significant risk from HEMI use: cardiac capture, ventricular tachycardia, ventricular fibrillation, atrial fibrillation, and pulseless electrical activity (PEA).¹¹ Cardiac capture occurs when an external stimulus drives the rate of cardiac contraction. Ventricular tachycardia occurs when the cardiac ventricles are contracting faster than 100 beats per minute, independent of the sino-atrial node rate. This can present as monomorphic or polymorphic activity on an electrocardiogram (EKG). Monomorphic activity indicates a single site within the ventricles is setting the rate of contraction. Polymorphic activity indicates that several sites within the ventricles are firing independent of each other. This is also known as torsades de pointes, which can degenerate into ventricular fibrillation. Ventricular fibrillation exists when contraction of cardiac ventricular muscle fibers occurs in an uncoordinated manner, leading to cessation of cardiac output. Atrial fibrillation exists when cardiac atrial muscle fibers contract in an uncoordinated manner. To date, there have been no instances of atrial fibrillation recorded in association with or as a result of HEMI exposure. PEA occurs when coordinated cardiac electrical activity is present but there is no effective cardiac output. PEA is not a form of cardiac rhythm disturbance and has not been reported as a direct result of EMI exposure. PEA has not been associated with HEMI exposures during law enforcement activities. Of the three cardiac

rhythm effects identifies in the NIJ report, only cardiac capture, ventricular tachycardia, and ventricular fibrillation pose a direct risk for HEMI exposure.

Cardiac capture, or cardiac pacing, is frequently used in clinical settings when the heart's intrinsic pacemaker is malfunctioning. Cardiac capture requires a lower HEMI charge/current than other forms of cardiac rhythm disturbance. Voorhees et al. found that twelve times as much energy is needed to induce ventricular fibrillation as to enable cardiac capture.¹²

Ho et al. recorded EKGs for 32 volunteers during a TASER training course.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} EKGs were obtained at baseline, immediately post-exposure, 16 hours post-exposure, and 24 hours post-exposure. Each EKG was read separately by an independent cardiologist who was blind to experimental conditions. The EKGs for 30 of the volunteers were read as normal for each time point. Two volunteers had consistently abnormal EKGs, one with left ventricular hypertrophy and the other with occasional sinus pause. Actual EKG measurements were not reported.

Nanthakumar et al. found that the orientation of HEMI electrodes determined whether or not cardiac capture occurred with swine.¹³ A thoracic orientation, with one electrode in the right parasternal region and the second electrode in the left lateral thoracic margin, was compared to electrodes attached below the inferior costal margin of the right and left anterior hemi-thoraces. The thoracic orientation produced cardiac capture in 79% of EMI exposures versus none with the electrodes placed below the inferior costal margins.

Levine et al. studied 105 law enforcement officers participating in TASER training.¹⁴ Four limb lead electrodes were attached and EKG monitoring done at least five seconds before, during, and five seconds after a five second HEMI exposure. Mean heart rate increased 15 beats per minute, with a range from -10 to +85 beats per minute. The highest heart rate recorded was 190 beats per minute. EKG recordings were deemed inadequate for determining PR interval, QRS duration, and QTc interval. Two rhythm strips were presented showing that both QT shortening and QT lengthening can occur. The authors stated that 12-lead EKGs might allow formal calculation of cardiac conduction intervals.

Valentino et al. studied 11 electrode orientations for TASER X-26 exposures in four swine.¹⁵ Ventral electrodes were used for nine orientations, comparing trans-cardiac (opposite sides of the heart) and trans-diaphragmatic (above and below the diaphragm) orientations (these were not mutually exclusive). Dorsal electrodes were used for two non-trans-cardiac orientations, comparing trans-diaphragmatic and non-trans-diaphragmatic orientations. Each exposure consisted of 10-second discharges with anode and cathode reversal of the electrodes between discharges. Defibrillation was performed as needed. All electrode orientations and anode/cathode pairs were conducted at least twice. Cardiac capture was seen in 31 of 59 exposures (52.5%) with capture in 23 of 27 trans-cardiac orientations. Ventral trans-cardiac electrodes produced cardiac capture for 15 of 15 supra-diaphragmatic and 8 of 12 transdiaphragmatic orientations. Ventral non-trans-cardiac electrodes produced cardiac capture for 8 of 24 trans-diaphragmatic and 0 of 8 non-trans-diaphragmatic orientations. Cardiac capture was not produced in any of the four dorsal electrode orientations. Ventricular fibrillation was produced in 2 of 9 exposures with a specific cardiac orientation, centered over the point of maximum impulse. Other cardiac dysrhythmias were seen in 10 of 57 exposures with ventral electrode orientations, though there was no discussion of the specific rhythms seen. Many of these dysrhythmias may simply have consisted of ectopic beats or other benign rhythms.

Beason et al. compared ventricular fibrillation threshold for the X-26 and an in-house built stimulator.¹⁶ Electrodes were placed 15 cm apart in a cardiac orientation. A five second discharge from the X-26 was used as a baseline. None of 10 swine developed ventricular fibrillation. The in-house stimulator was used to determine the energy level that produced ventricular fibrillation for 50% of the exposures. This 50% fibrillation threshold was four to five times greater than the output of the X-26.

Ho et al. produced cardiac capture in one of eight subjects with a new generation HEMI device.¹⁷ Volunteers received a 10-second HEMI exposure from a TASER X3 device. One electrode was over the mid-sternal area while the second electrode was over the right groin. This electrode orientation is approximately 60 degrees from the orientation described by Nanthakumar. Thus, Ho's one subject did not have a thoracic electrode orientation as described by Nanthakumar. One common characteristic of the two studies is that an electrode was placed over or near the mid-sternum. The manufacturer subsequently lowered the device energy output and none of 45 subjects in a second group experienced a cardiac effect.

Dawes et al. exposed 53 volunteers to a TASER X3 device.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} This is a second paper from the preceding study by Ho et al.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Three different ventral electrode orientation locations were utilized: two upper thoracic electrodes, two upper thoracic and one abdominal or thigh electrode, and two upper thoracic and two abdominal or upper thigh electrodes. This study was designed to look for respiratory function, biochemistry, and catecholamine changes after a 10-second exposure. Cardiac capture occurred in one volunteer. Testing was stopped and TASER International modified the X3 device to lower the output charge. No other episode of cardiac capture occurred with the new device.

If the HEMI device causes cardiac capture and discharges at a rapid rate, it can induce ventricular tachycardia. Sustained ventricular tachycardia after cessation of the HEMI stimulus has not been seen in human research to date. Theoretically, after cessation of a HEMI stimulus, ventricular muscle may continue to automatically discharge even if the cardiac sino-atrial node is firing properly. This condition may occur in a coordinated or uncoordinated manner. If coordinated, then a ventricular rhythm will be seen. If ventricular muscle discharge occurs in an uncoordinated manner, then ventricular fibrillation will result.

Blackwell and Hayllar reported that QTc prolongation occurred after "low voltage," less than 1000 volts, injury in 28 of 212 (14%) cases.¹⁸ QTc prolongation lasted up to six hours after the last exposure. QTc prolongation of 500 msec or greater can spontaneously convert into multifocal ventricular tachycardia, which in turn can degenerate into ventricular fibrillation. This study illustrates that cardiac collapse may not be directly due to HEMI exposure. Other causes for QTc prolongation, including the presence of stimulant or psychoactive drug, may be additive with HEMI and lead to cardiac collapse. Pre-screening of volunteers for medication use that may predispose to adverse cardiac effects, such as stimulants or anti-depressants, is prudent to reduce risk with HEMI exposures.

Wu et al. examined the effect of electrodetoheart distance to produce ventricular fibrillation in swine for a specified energy, 5-second EMI exposure.¹⁹ All exposures surgically placed the electrode within the thoracic wall. A location over the mid-point of the right ventricle was chosen. The average distance to initially produce ventricular fibrillation was 17 mm. Shorter distances likely resulted in shunting of the electrical energy through tissue layers above the heart. Subsequent EMI exposure required less separation of electrodes to produce ventricular fibrillation, 13.7 mm. Defibrillation was performed immediately. There was no attempt to record spontaneous recovery of sinus cardiac rhythm. Other regions of the heart may be more or less susceptible for inducing ventricular fibrillation.

Walter et al. studied, in six swine, two 40-second TASER X-26 exposures with a 10-15 second pause in between exposures.²⁰ A trans-cardiac orientation was used for electrode placement. Cardiac capture, described as ventricular tachycardia/flutter, occurred in all of the animals. One animal developed ventricular fibrillation and died. The other five animals regained sinus rhythm after the exposure.

Lakkireddy et al. compared five different electrode orientations for TASER X-26 exposures in 11 swine.²¹ Ventral electrodes were used for three orientations, transthoracic electrodes for one orientation, and dorsal electrodes for one orientation. Five different current levels were tested, including 1X, 3X, 10X, 20X, and 50X the output of a TASER X-26. A standard X-26 was used for the 1X trials and a custom-built unit was used to provide the higher level exposures. Cardiac capture and ventricular fibrillation threshold currents were lowest for trans-cardiac electrodes with one barb over the sternal notch and the other over the point of maximal impulse. (This differs from the statement by Wu that the mid-point of the right ventricle was most sensitive.) Higher threshold currents were required as the electrodes were moved further from the heart, with the dorsal electrode orientation having the highest threshold currents for cardiac capture and ventricular fibrillation.

Swerdlow et al. performed a retrospective review of 56 non-traumatic sudden deaths associated with HEMI exposure.²² Inclusion criteria required that every person to collapse within 15 minutes of the last HEMI discharge. The presenting cardiac rhythms, from most to least prevalent, were as follows. Twenty-one had no detectable cardiac rhythm, asystole. Asystole is the end result of untreated ventricular fibrillation. Four other cases initially classified as asystole were found to have cardiac rhythms less than five beats per minute. Eleven had pulseless electrical activity. Another had a rhythm for which an Automated External Defibrillator (AED) advised no shock be given, meaning that ventricular fibrillation or ventricular tachycardia was not present. Five (not including the four cases mentioned above) had significant bradycardia with a cardiac rate less than 30 beats per minute. Four had ventricular fibrillation either on an EKG or based upon an AED advice to deliver a shock. The vast majority of these cases, 50 of 56, had stimulants or psychoactive drugs on blood or urine screening. The term "psychoactive drugs" is not further defined by the authors. A major limitation of this review is that the authors only considered cases were ventricular fibrillation was present or presumed, and discounted those cases where asystole was present. Another limitation of this review is that no EKG changes other than rhythm disturbances were reported.

Ho et al. in a third study of electrocardiographic effects, exposed 25 volunteers to a physically exhaustive exercise regimen, verified by a venous pH measurement, and followed this with a continuous 15 second discharge from a TASER X26 device.²³ EKGs were recorded at baseline and immediately after exposure. EKGs were read by a cardiologist blind to experimental condition. All of the EKGs, except one, were interpreted as normal with respect to rhythm or "clinically significant finding." The one participant's baseline EKG had monomorphic premature ventricular contractions (PVCs). No PVCs were noted on this participant's post-exposure EKG. No EKG intervals were presented.

Kroll et al. compared the energy requirements for two different EMI devices to induce ventricular fibrillation in two small swine.²⁴ All EMI exposures were 15 seconds in duration. Pulses over three times the output of a TASER X-26 were necessary to induce ventricular fibrillation in 3/7 cathode stimulation exposures. Anode stimulation did not cause ventricular fibrillation at any energy level tested. The authors do not mention if ventricular fibrillation was sustained after cessation of the EMI exposure.

Nanthakumar et al. combined EMI exposure with epinephrine infusion to simulate increased sympathetic tone during stress.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} In one of 16 swine exposures, this produced polymorphic ventricular tachycardia that degenerated into ventricular fibrillation. Non-sustained ventricular tachycardia was produced in a second animal.

VanMeenen et al. collected pre- and post-exposure EKGs from 118 law enforcement officers undergoing TASER training.²⁵ Baseline 12- lead EKGs were obtained the day prior or the morning of exposure. Post-exposure EKGs were obtained between 20 and 22 hours after exposure. No statistically or clinically significant change was found for mean PR interval, QRS interval, QT interval, P-axis deviation, QRS-axis deviation, or T-axis deviation. A major limitation of this study is the long delay between exposure and post-exposure EKGs, which can permit a return to baseline for EKG changes.

Dawes et al. observed 11 volunteers during a 30-second HEMI exposure from a TASER C2 device. Before and after EKGs were compared.²⁶ All 11 subjects remained in a sinus rhythm. One asymptomatic subject had a non-specific minimal ST depression. Three subjects experienced a heart rate change of more than 10 beats per minute, two had a rate increase and one had a rate decrease. Echocardiography was attempted for six subjects during HEMI stimulation. Three subjects were identified as having a sinus rhythm and the other three had an indeterminate rhythm. No untoward effects occurred as a result of a 30-second HEMI exposure.

Havranek et al. performed continuous EKG and echocardiographic monitoring of 26 volunteers during a 5-second HEMI exposure from a TASER X26 device.²⁷ Electrodes were attached along the long axis of the heart, from second intercostal space, right mid-clavicular line, to the fifth intercostal space, left anterior axillary line. Mean heart rate increased from a baseline of 89 beats per minute (bpm), to 101 bpm 10 seconds before HEMI exposure, to 130 bpm 10 seconds after HEMI exposure, and returned to baseline by 5 minutes after HEMI exposure. Two subjects showed an unexpected bradycardia 10 seconds after HEMI exposure, with a further reduction by 5 minutes after HEMI exposure. Both subjects had sinus tachycardia at baseline, 106 and 120 bpm. Echocardiography showed one subject's heart rate as slow as 35 bpm during HEMI

exposure. QTc interval duration increased from a baseline of 410 msec, to 484 msec at 10 seconds after HEMI exposure. A peak QTc interval was recorded as 605 msec, indicating profound QTc prolongation. This QTc interval change did not reach statistical significance. Mean PR interval and QRS duration were unchanged from baseline at any time point.

2.3 Cardiac Effects - Myocardial Injury

Myocardial injury, as with skeletal muscle injury, can occur due to electrical shock. Clinical markers for cardiac muscle injury include CK-MB and Troponin I. CK-MB is an isozyme of CK predominately found in cardiac muscle, versus CK-MM in skeletal muscle and CK-BB in brain tissue. A cardiac insult can cause a detectable release of CK-MB in serum as soon as 2 hours, peaking by 10 to 24 hours, and returning to normal by 48 to 72 hours. Troponin I and Troponin T are more specific for myocardial damage than CK-MB. Troponins can be detected within 3 to 12 hours of cardiac injury, peak at 24 to 48 hours, and return to normal over 5 to 14 days.

Ho et al. studied 66 volunteers during a TASER training course in April 2005.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Each participant received a 5second exposure from a TASER X26 device. Blood samples were collected at baseline, immediately after exposure, at 16 hours post-exposure, and at 24 hours post-exposure. Troponin I levels were reported as 0 ng/ml at all times. The text of the article mentions that one volunteer had a reading of 0.6 ng/mL after 24 hours, for which this person was hospitalized for further evaluation. No evidence of myocardial infarction was found and the level was <0.3 ng/mL eight hours later.

Jauchem et al. found no significant change in Troponin I or Troponin T in six swine after two sessions of intermittent EMI exposure over 3 minutes, separated by one hour.²⁸ Jugular venous blood samples were taken before, immediately post-exposure, 30 minutes and one hour after each EMI exposure. Over the course of 2 hours after the first EMI exposure and one hour after the second EMI exposure, there was significant change from baseline for Troponin I and Troponin T levels. After two hours from the first EMI exposure mean serum Troponin I levels were 0.35 ng/mL, with the uppermost value reaching 0.5 ng/mL. Clinically, this is considered an indeterminate level, less than the lower limit for positive diagnosis of myocardial injury.

Vilke et al. studied 32 law enforcement trainees undergoing a 5-second TASER exposure.²⁹ A 12-lead EKG was performed at baseline and one hour post-exposure. Specific EKG measurements were not reported. Troponin I was assayed at six hours post-exposure. All values were less than 0.2 ng/mL and were considered negative for evidence of cardiac ischemia. The authors concluded there was no evidence of ischemia or interval changes between EKGs.

Sloane et al. measured serum Troponin I levels after a single 5-second HEMI exposure in law enforcement officers participating in TASER X-26 training.³⁰ At six hours after the HEMI exposure, all serum Troponin I levels were negative (≤ 0.2 ng/mL).

Walter et al. exposed 6 swine to transcardiac EMI for multiple 40-second pulses attempting to look for cardiac capture and ventricular dysrhythmias.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} The investigators measured Troponin I at baseline, after 5, 15, 30, and 60 minutes, after 24 and 48 hours. Mean

Troponin I levels were essentially equal to baseline, except at 24 hours which rose to 0.02 ng/mL. This increase was not statistically or clinically significant.

Lakkireddy et al. measured in 9 swine CK, CK-MB, and Troponin I at baseline, after multiple 5second exposures, and after conclusion of the EMI exposures.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} No time duration from baseline to the final exposure was mentioned. They reported no significant change in cardiac injury markers. Because several hours must pass before troponin levels may rise, this study provides no insight on the risk of cardiac injury after multiple EMI exposures.

VanMeenen et al. studied 118 law enforcement officers undergoing TASER training.^{Error! Bookmark} ^{not defined.} Blood samples were obtained the day prior or the morning of exposure. Post-exposure blood samples were obtained a mean of 21.1 hours after exposure. Mean total CK showed no significant differences between pre- and post-exposures levels. Mean CK-MB and Troponin I were reported as zero and not detectable, respectively, for both time points. These results support the absence of myocardial injury after a five second TASER exposure.

Dawes et al. exposed 11 volunteers to a 30-second HEMI exposure from a TASER C2 device.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Troponin I levels were assayed at baseline, within 2 minutes after cessation of exposure, and 24 hours after exposure. They reported no "positive" troponins at 24 hours post-exposure.

Ho et al. exposed 53 subjects to 10 second HEMI bursts.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Troponin I levels were assayed at baseline and 24 hours later. None of the pre- or post-exposure Troponin I levels exceeded 0.04 ng/mL, the lowest level considered positive for myocardial injury.

Belen et al. report a case of myocardial infarction in a 37-year old male.³¹ Chest pain persisted for 30 seconds after HEMI exposure from an unspecified HEMI device. One electrode dart was in the left sixth intercostal space and one cm left of the mid-clavicular line, while the other dart electrode was near nipple level and two cm right of the (left) anterior axillary line. This placed the electrodes in an approximately horizontal line over the heart. This is close to the orientation that Wu found to produce ventricular fibrillation. Error! Bookmark not defined. Elevated ST segment were noted in leads II, III, and AVF, with reciprocal ST depression in leads I and AVL. Cardiac markers peaked 12 hours after the onset of chest pain, Troponin I at 9 ng/mL and CK-MB at 150 U/L. These levels exceeded the normal values. Coronary angiography was normal. No episode of recurrent chest pain, arrhythmia, or heart failure occurred.

2.4 Respiratory Dysfunction

Respiratory dysfunction may occur due to inadequate use of ventilatory muscles. The primary ventilatory muscle is the diaphragm. The chest wall and neck muscles are considered accessory muscles of ventilation. Diminished use of these secondary muscles may occur because of restricted motion due to pain or incapacitation as part of the HEMI exposure. Hypoxia is not the greatest hazard of respiratory dysfunction, rather hypercarbia due to inadequate gas exchange in the lungs leads to respiratory acidosis. The normal respiratory rate is about 12 breaths per minute. Thus, HEMI must last longer than five seconds for respiratory acidosis to begin. With longer periods of HEMI exposure, respiratory acidosis can combine with metabolic acidosis, from lactic acid accumulation due to sustained contraction of skeletal muscle. The combination of respiratory and metabolic acidosis can cause significant metabolic changes.

Ho et al. measured serum lactate in 66 volunteers during a TASER training course in April 2005.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Each participant received a five second exposure from a TASER X26 device. Blood samples were collected at baseline, immediately after exposure, at 16 hours post-exposure, and at 24 hours post-exposure. The mean level at baseline was 15.8 mg/dL, 24.7 mg/dL immediately post-exposure, 18.3 mg/dL after 16 hours, and 19.8 mg/dL after 24 hours. A peak value of 45 mg/dL was recorded immediately post-exposure. Peak levels of 36 and 37 mg/dL were reported for 16 and 24 hours post-exposure, respectively. Levels above 19.8 mg/dL may be considered as elevated.

Jauchem et al. measured blood pH, lactate, pulse oximetry, and partial pressure of carbon dioxide (pCO₂) in six anesthetized swine after two sessions of repeated five seconds on and five seconds off EMI exposure over 3 minutes, separated by one hour.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} The mean pH declined from a baseline of 7.4, to 6.9 immediately after the first exposure, and further to 6.85 after the second exposure. Mean blood lactate increased from 1 mM/L at baseline, to > 12 mM/L immediately after the first exposure, and remained above 9 mM/L for the rest of the experiment. Pulse oximetry showed a mean baseline oxygen (O₂) saturation of 90%. This declined to a trough of < 60% after the first exposure and a trough of 52% after the second exposure. Of note, the pulse oximeter accuracy was diminished below 85%. Mean blood pCO₂ increased from a baseline of 48 mm Hg, to 100 mmHg after each EMI exposure and returned to baseline by 60 minutes post-exposure. A pH of less than 7 is considered severe acidosis. The elevation of blood lactate and pCO₂ indicates a combined metabolic and respiratory acidosis which accounts for the decrease in pH seen after the first 3 minutes of intermittent EMI exposure.

Ho et al. reported data for 52 volunteers exposed to 15 seconds of HEMI from a TASER X-26 device.³² Eighteen volunteers received three 5-second exposures with a one second pause between exposures, and 34 volunteers received a 15-second continuous exposure. Ventilatory measurements included respiratory rate, tidal volume, end-tidal CO₂, end-tidal O₂, and minute ventilation. Four phases were assessed: baseline, during HEMI exposure, the first minute after HEMI exposure, and from the second post-exposure minute until a return to baseline. Mean values and 95% confidence intervals were reported. No statistical comparison was reported for ventilatory change from baseline values or for differences between the two exposure groups. Minute ventilation, the product of tidal volume and respiratory rate, reflects the overall metabolic

rate for tissue oxygenation. Both groups in this study showed modest increases in minute ventilation during HEMI, followed by large increases in minute ventilation during the first minute of recovery. End-tidal CO_2 and O_2 showed a modest increase and decrease, respectively, during HEMI exposure, consistent with increased ventilation. These changes were reversed during the first minute of recovery, probably due to respiratory compensation for metabolic change from increased muscle metabolic activity. The small change in minute ventilation during HEMI suggests that ventilatory movements were restricted, and the post-exposure increase in minute ventilation suggests a return of unrestricted ventilatory movements.

Esquivel et al. exposed 10 swine to four sets of five EMI exposures five minutes apart, for a total of 20 exposures.³³ Each exposure was a five second output from a TASER X-26 device. There is no mention of a pause between each five second output from the X-26 device. Thus, each set appears to consist of 25 seconds continuous EMI exposure. Arterial blood samples were drawn after every set of five exposures and hourly until four hours after the last exposure. Assays included pH, pCO₂, partial pressure of oxygen (pO₂), blood lactate, and airway pressure. The mean pH decreased from a baseline value of 7.45 to 7.34 during EMI exposure. A corresponding increase in mean pCO₂ level occurred, from 41 mm Hg at baseline to 52.5 mm Hg during EMI, and returned to a normal level two hours after the last exposure. There was no significant change in pO₂ or airway pressure at any time. These changes indicate a mild acidosis of mixed metabolic and respiratory nature caused by 25 seconds of EMI exposure.

Vilke et al. evaluated 32 law enforcement officers receiving a five second TASER exposure as part of training.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Minute ventilation, tidal volume, respiratory rate, and end-tidal pCO₂ were assessed at baseline, and post-exposure at one, 10, 30, and 60 minutes. Arterial blood gases and lactate were drawn at baseline, and post-exposure at one, 10, 30, and 60 minutes. Pulse oximetry was assessed at baseline and post-exposure at five, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 40, 50, and 60 minutes. Mean minute ventilation, tidal volume, and respiratory rate values were all significantly increased at one minute post-exposure. pH was decreased significantly without clinical relevance at one minute post-exposure. These values returned to baseline levels by 10 minutes post-exposure and remained at baseline thereafter. Lactate levels increased significantly but not to clinically elevated levels at one and 10 minutes post-exposure. pO₂ and pCO₂ did not differ significantly from baseline values at any time. End-tidal pCO₂ did not differ from baseline values at any time. End-tidal pCO₂ did not differ from baseline values at any time. End-tidal pCO₂ did not differ from baseline values at any time. End-tidal pCO₂ did not differ from baseline values after adjusting for multiple comparisons. These small changes indicate a five second HEMI exposure does not cause clinically significant respiratory change.

Walter et al. exposed six anesthetized swine to two 40-second TASER X-26 stimulations with a 10-15 second pause between.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Central venous blood samples were drawn at baseline, then five, 10, 15, 30, and 60 minutes post-exposure, plus 24 and 48 hours post-exposure. Assays were performed for pH, pCO₂, bicarbonate, and lactate levels. Venous pH, pCO₂, bicarbonate, and lactate showed minor changes. Only differences in mean lactate levels at five, 10, and 30 minutes post-exposure reached significant elevation, up to 3.5 mM/L, below the 4 mM/L anaerobic threshold in exercise. The five minute interval between the cessation of EMI exposure and blood collection for lactate assessment may explain why only minor changes were seen.

A second study by Jauchem et al. exposed ten anesthetized swine to a series of three 5-second EMI bursts, with 5-second recovery intervals between bursts.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Mean blood pH, lactate, SpO₂, and SpCO₂ were assayed at baseline, immediately post-exposures, and every 30 minutes thereafter until 180 minutes after the initial exposure. The mean pH at baseline was 7.4, which decreased to 7.25 immediately post-exposure, and increased only slightly to 7.3 by 30 minutes post-exposure. By 60 minutes post-exposure mean pH returned to baseline level and remained there. Mean blood lactate levels were 1 mM/L at baseline, increased to 6.0 mM/L immediately post-exposure, and remained there at 30 minutes post-exposure. The mean lactate level declined to 3.0 mM/L at 60 minutes post-exposure. Subsequent lactate assays returned to baseline levels. Mean SpO₂ remained near baseline levels throughout the experiment. These results differ from the findings of Walter et al., where the swine were given the paralyzing agent succinyl choline. The elimination of sustained muscle contraction likely explains this difference.

A second experiment by Ho et al. exposed 38 volunteers to a TASER X-26 device for 15 seconds.³⁴ Baseline venous blood assays included venous pH, pCO₂, and lactate. Volunteers completed intense physical exercise to induce anaerobic exhaustion, push-ups followed by running on a treadmill. Then a second blood sample was drawn. This was followed by EMI exposure for 15 seconds while in a supine position. Then a third blood sample was drawn. A final blood sample was drawn 16 to 24 hours after EMI exposure. A significant decrease in mean pH was noted after exercise, from a baseline of 7.38 to 7.23, and remained low at 7.22 after EMI exposure. An increase in pCO₂ was noted after exercise, from a baseline of 46.3 mm Hg to 57.4 mm Hg after exercise which declined to 51.3mm Hg after EMI exposure. Mean lactate increased from a baseline of 1.65 mM/L, to 8.39 mM/L after exercise, and 9.85 mM/L after EMI exposure. All values returned to baseline 16 to 24 hours after the EMI exposure. These results reflect increasing metabolic acidosis from EMI exposure after exercise, with decreasing respiratory acidosis after cessation of exercise. The combination of respiratory and metabolic acidosis result in continued overall acidosis after the EMI exposure.

A third study by Jauchem et al. exposed 10 swine to EMI for 30 or 60 second periods.³⁵ Venous blood was collected for pH, lactate, pCO₂, and pO₂ measurements one minute before and after each EMI exposure. Respiratory rate and hemoglobin oxygen saturation were monitored continuously. Results were reported in aggregate, rather than by 30 or 60 second exposure group. Lactate was significantly elevated at all post-exposure times. Venous pCO₂ was significantly elevated, and pH significantly decreased, immediately post-exposure, but both returned to baseline values by 30 seconds after EMI exposure. Venous pO₂ showed no significant change. No substantial breaths were noted during exposures, though the animals seemed to attempt to breathe. Mean respiratory rate decreased from baseline values immediately post-exposure and returned to baseline levels. Hemoglobin oxygen saturation showed no significant change but did increase over time.

A fourth study by Jauchem et al. exposed 10 anesthetized swine to 30 seconds of EMI from a TASER C2 device.³⁶ Respiration rate and hemoglobin oxygen saturation were continuously monitored by pulse oximetry. Jugular venous blood samples were drawn one minute before and one minute after TASER exposures, then at 10, 20 30, 60, 90, 120, 150, and 190 minutes post-exposure. Blood assays included pH, pCO₂, pO₂, and lactate. No effective respiration occurred during EMI exposures, though some animals did breathe during a 0.5 second pause in the C2

device output. Mean respiratory rate declined from a baseline of 46 to 27 breaths per minute immediately post-exposure. Mean hemoglobin oxygen saturation decreased from a baseline of 90% to 68% immediately post-exposure. Mean venous pCO₂ increased from 60 mm Hg at baseline, to 113 mm Hg immediately post-exposure, but was not significantly different from baseline levels by 10 minutes post-exposure. Mean venous pO₂ decreased from a baseline of 45 mm Hg to 31 mm Hg immediately post-exposure. Mean lactate level was 1.6 mM/L at baseline and increased immediately post-exposure, reaching a peak of 14.1 mM/L at 10 minutes post-exposure, and remained significantly elevated through 180 minutes post-exposure. The immediate respiratory acidosis from muscle activity persisted through 180 minutes post-exposure. The combination yielded a significant overall acidosis. Mean venous pH was 7.39 at baseline, dropped to 7.04 immediately post-exposure, and remained significantly depressed through 60 minutes post-exposure.

Dawes et al. studied 11 volunteers exposed for 30 seconds to HEMI from a TASER C2 device. Error! Bookmark not defined. Venous blood was drawn at five minutes before EMI exposure, within one minute post-exposure, and 24 hours later. Mean blood pH and lactate were assayed. Continuous monitoring was performed for respiratory rate, tidal volume, pCO₂, and pO₂. Mean pH decreased from a baseline of 7.36 to 7.23 immediately post-exposure. Mean lactate levels increased from 1.46 mM/L to 5.63 mM/L immediately post-exposure, indicating increased metabolic acid production. Mean end-tidal pCO₂ decreased from 36 mm Hg at baseline to 27 mm Hg immediately post-exposure, indicating metabolic alkalosis rather than respiratory acidosis occurred. This contrasts with all other studies employing HEMI exposure greater than five seconds duration. Mean end-tidal pO₂ increased slightly during HEMI exposure from a baseline level of 107 mm Hg to 113 mm Hg during exposure. Mean respiratory rate increased from 17 breaths per minute at baseline to 35 during HEMI exposure. Mean tidal volume decreased from 0.93 L at baseline to 0.72 L during HEMI exposure. Mean minute ventilation increased from 15.1 L/min at baseline (about twice normal value) to 20 L/min during HEMI exposure. After HEMI exposure, mean respiratory rate declined to 19 breaths per minute but mean tidal volume and mean minute volume increased to 1.47 L and 25.7 L/min, respectively. These results indicate a reduction in the volume of each breath was more than compensated by an increase in the frequency of breaths during EMI exposure, leading to respiratory alkalosis. This respiratory alkalosis was not sufficient to offset the metabolic acidosis that occurred, hence the drop in pH during EMI exposure. The post-exposure respiratory rate and volumes suggest increased respiratory compensation for continued metabolic acidosis.

A second study by Dawes et al. exposed 53 volunteers to a TASER X3 device for 10 seconds.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Participants were divided into three groups with different ventral electrode orientation locations: two upper thoracic electrodes, two upper thoracic and one abdominal or thigh electrode, and two upper thoracic and two abdominal or upper thigh electrodes. Venous blood was sampled for pH and lactate at baseline, immediately after HEMI exposure, and every two minutes for 10 minutes. Continuous respiratory data was recorded via a breath-by-breath gas exchange system and reported as aggregate measures. Mean serum pH at baseline was 7.40, immediately post-exposure was 7.36, at two and four minutes post-exposure was 7.35, at six and eight minutes post-exposure was 7.37, and after 10 minutes was 7.39. Mean serum lactate at baseline was 3.05 mM/L, after two

minutes was 4.52 mM/L, after four minutes was 4.48 mM/L, after six minutes was 4.57 mM/L, after eight minutes was 4.37 mM/L, and after 10 minutes was 4.11 mM/L. The paper includes a table with blood pCO₂, pO₂, and HCO₃ results at the same time points as above but the text does not mention whether these were venous or arterial blood results. It must be assumed that these were venous blood results. Mean serum pCO₂ at baseline was 45.1 mm Hg, immediately postexposure was 50.0 mm Hg, after two minutes was 45.8 mm Hg, after four minutes was 46.4 mm Hg, after six minutes was 44.2 mm Hg, after eight minutes was 43.0 mm Hg, and after 10 minutes was 42.2 mm Hg. Mean serum pO₂ at baseline was 32.5 mm Hg, immediately postexposure was 28.5 mm Hg, after two minutes was 44.0 mm Hg, after four and six minutes was 45.0 mm Hg, after eight and 10 minutes was 42.0 mm Hg. Mean serum HCO₃ at baseline was 28.0 mEq/L, immediately post-exposure was 28.3 mEq/L, declined to 25.0 mEq/L after six minutes, and rose to 25.8 mEq/L after 10 minutes. These results indicate a mixed metabolic and respiratory acidosis, with incomplete respiratory compensation until 10 minutes post-exposure. At baseline, the mean respiratory rate was 14 breaths per minute, which increased to 15 during HEMI exposure, and 18 during the post-exposure recovery. Tidal volume decreased from a mean baseline value of 1.09 L (normal is 0.5 L), to 1.02 L during HEMI exposure, and increased to 1.28 L during the post-exposure recovery. Mean partial pressure of end-tidal carbon dioxide (PETCO₂) was 38 mm Hg at baseline, 35 mm Hg during HEMI exposure, and 40 mm Hg during the post-exposure recovery. Mean partial pressure of end-tidal oxygen (PETO₂) was 107 mm Hg at baseline, 106 mm Hg during HEMI exposure, and 110 mm Hg during the post-exposure recovery. Mean minute ventilation, the product of respiratory rate and tidal volume, at baseline was 16.6 L/min, 17.2 L/min during HEMI exposure, and 22.4 L/min during the post-exposure recovery. This group of subjects showed a baseline tidal volume and minute ventilation about twice that of an average human. The authors offered no explanation for this.

Jauchem et al. performed a fifth study of prolonged EMI exposure in 10 anesthetized swine.³⁷ A TASER X-26 device was repeatedly cycled on for seven seconds and off for three seconds, for a total duration of three minutes. Thus, each animal received 18 EMI exposures of seven seconds duration each. Respiratory rate and hemoglobin oxygen saturation were continuously monitored with pulse oximetry. Jugular venous blood samples were collected within one minute before and after each EMI exposure. The blood samples were assayed for pH and lactate. Additional venous blood samples were collected at 30, 60, 90, 120, 150, and 180 minutes post-exposure. Respiratory rates were significantly depressed during the EMI exposure. No animal showed respiratory effort during EMI exposure, though breathing did occur during the three second pauses in the surviving animals. Six animals were apneic immediately post-exposure and expired. Survivors remained hypopneic until five minutes post-exposure. Hemoglobin oxygen saturation decreased significantly for all animals, from a mean baseline of about 86%, through the exposure period. Both survivors and non-survivors showed a continued decline of hemoglobin oxygen saturation until four to five minutes after EMI exposure ceased. Survivors reached a nadir of 40% while non-survivors bottomed at about 10%. Mean venous pH was significantly decreased until 90 minutes post-exposure, with a trough of 6.84 for survivors and 6.88 for non-survivors immediately post-exposure. Mean venous lactate increased from a baseline of 1 mM/L to 23 mM/L after EMI exposure and remained significantly elevated from baseline through 150 minutes post-exposure. These results indicate that after three minute EMI exposures respiratory acidosis persisted over 60 minutes. Metabolic alkalosis persisted for at least 150 minutes post-exposure. Overall acidosis was influenced by both respiratory and

metabolic components, with venous pH not reaching near normal levels until 90 minutes postexposure. The lack of pCO_2 measurement prevents determining whether the metabolic or respiratory acidosis was predominant.

VanMeenen et al. examined respiratory function during five second HEMI exposure.³⁸ Twentvthree law enforcement officers participating in TASER training volunteered. Blood samples were obtained the day prior or the morning of exposure. Post-exposure blood samples were obtained a mean of 21.1 hours after exposure. Mean serum bicarbonate showed no significant statistical or clinical change between pre- and post-exposure levels. Respiratory flow and breathing gas temperature were recorded, beginning 20 seconds before, during five seconds of exposure to a TASER X26 device, and until 20 seconds after exposure. Tidal volume decreased during inspiration and expiration phases. The change was greater during inspiration than expiration. A graph was provided, but actual values not given. Baseline inspiratory volume and expiratory volumes were shown as roughly 3.2 L and 2.8 L, respectively. During HEMI exposure, inspiratory and expiratory volumes were roughly 0.5 and 1.6 L, respectively. During post-exposure, inspiratory and expiratory volumes were roughly 5.4 and 4.4 L, respectively. Participants with one probe in the mid-scapular region and the other probe below the sacrum showed less impairment of respiratory function. All participants were asked to sniff during HEMI exposure and only 10 recalled tried to do so. During HEMI exposure, two participants exhibited changes in respiratory flow consistent with sniffing. Voluntary breathing efforts possibly were limited due to impairment of remembering the task or restricted respiratory function.

2.5 Electrolyte Imbalances

Electrolyte imbalances and other metabolic changes can occur during HEMI exposures. During acidosis, hydrogen ions move from the blood into cells to be buffered by the numerous proteins within, and potassium ions move from inside cells to the blood. Elevated blood potassium levels, or hyperkalemia, can result. Blood potassium levels above 6.5 mM/L with EKG changes, or levels above 8.0 mM/L regardless of EKG changes, are associated with ventricular arrhythmias, including fibrillation or cardiac arrest.³⁹ Blood calcium levels also change as blood pH changes, increasing or decreasing by 0.03 mM/L for every 0.1 increase or decrease in pH, respectively. Blood sodium levels are less affected by acidosis. Blood bicarbonate levels decrease when bicarbonate combines with hydrogen ions from acids to from water and carbon dioxide. The carbon dioxide formed is exhaled during ventilation. Blood lactate levels reflect lactic acid produced during anaerobic metabolism in muscle cells. Lactate can influence on blood pH, and elevated levels are eventually converted to bicarbonate.

Ho et al. studied 66 volunteers during a TASER training course in April 2005.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Each participant received a 5-second exposure from a TASER X26 device. Blood samples were collected at baseline, immediately after exposure, at 16 hours post-exposure, and at 24 hours post-exposure. Mean serum potassium was 4.1 mM/L at baseline, 3.9 mM/L immediately post-exposure, 4.5 mM/L after 16 hours, and 4.2 mM/L after 24 hours. After 16 hours, serum potassium peaked at 5.7 mM/L, a level that warrants clinical observation. After 24 hours, the peak value recorded for serum potassium was 5.2 mM/L which indicated the potassium level was returning to normal. Mean serum bicarbonate was 22.6 mM/L at baseline, 22.0 mM/L

immediately post-exposure, 24.6 mM/L after 16 hours, and 23.8 mM/L after 24 hours. Similarly, peak serum bicarbonate levels showed a slight, clinically insignificant, increase to 29 mM/L after 16 hours, and after 24 hours. Mean serum sodium, chloride, and calcium showed no significant changes from baseline levels for any time after exposure.

Jauchem et al. exposed 10 anesthetized swine to a series of three 5-second EMI bursts, with 5seconds recovery between bursts.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Venous blood samples were taken before EMI exposure, immediately afterward, and then every 30-minutes until 3-hours after the EMI exposure. The authors report significant increases in blood sodium, potassium, and calcium immediately after EMI exposure. Mean sodium was 140 mM/L at baseline and rose to 142. Both of these values are within the normal range. Mean potassium was 4.0 mM/L at baseline and rose to 4.7. These values reflect a mid-normal level rising to a high normal level. Mean blood calcium was 1.31 mM/L at baseline and rose to 1.37. The mean baseline value is near the upper limit of normal for humans. The mean immediate post-exposure level is above normal for humans. The authors do not specify whether the calcium values were for total or ionized calcium, though the levels cited are consistent with ionized calcium levels.

A retrospective study by Strote et al. examined the medical records between 1 Jan 2001 and 31 Dec 2006 for 1,101 persons seen within 24 hours of EMI exposures performed by the Seattle Police Department.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Blood chemistry tests were performed for small subsets of persons evaluated at local hospitals. Ten adults had blood pH assays, two persons had a pH <7.3. Five adults had blood lactate assays and three of these were greater than 2.1 mM/L. Blood potassium levels were assayed for 134 adults and two persons had levels >5.4 mEq/L. Four persons met the definition for "excited delirium." Blood CO₂ levels were reported as 25, 18, 26, and 10 mEq/L. These are actually HCO₃ levels, and for compensated metabolic acidosis/alkalosis, correspond to pCO₂ levels of 41, 33, 42, and 23 mm Hg. This summary of heterogeneous medical records provides information only sufficient to state that a minority of HEMI exposures are associated with acidotic changes.

A second study by Ho et al. divided 60 volunteers into five groups of 12 participants with between group comparisons in tasks that simulated different arrest conditions. Group 1 completed a 150 meter sprint followed by a 44-inch wall hurdle. Group 2 completed 45 seconds of striking a heavy bag (punching, kicking, etc.). Group 3 underwent a 10-second TASER X26 exposure. Group 4 sprinted 49 meters, then presented a protected arm for a 20second K-9 engagement. Group 5 received a 2-3 second exposure to oleoresin capsaicin (Pepper Spray) on the face and neck. Peripheral venous blood samples were taken at baseline, immediately after the exposure, then every two minutes, until 10 minutes after the exposure. Baseline mean blood pH ranged from 7.32 to 7.37 for all groups. The sprint and heavy bag conditions caused the greatest decrease in immediate post-exposure pH, 7.16 and 7.04, respectively. Smaller decreases in pH were seen for the TASER and K-9 exposure groups, 7.29 and 7.26, respectively. There was no change in pH for the Pepper Spray group. At eight minutes post-exposure, the TASER exposure group had returned to baseline mean pH level. At 10 minutes post-exposure, the K-9 group was near mean baseline pH level, 7.31. The mean pH levels for the Sprint and Heavy Bag conditions remained decreased, with the Sprint group showing a modest increase toward the baseline mean pH level, but the Heavy Bag group mean pH level remaining decreased at 7.06. Similarly, the mean blood lactate levels showed the

greatest increase immediately post-exposure for the Sprint and Heavy Bag groups, with continued elevated levels through 10 minutes post-exposure. Again, the TASER and K-9 groups showed intermediate increases in mean blood lactate level, though these remained elevated at 10 minutes post-exposure. The Pepper Spray group had no significant change in mean blood lactate level at any time. Baseline mean blood potassium showed no difference between groups, with an overall level of 4.0 mEq/L. The Sprint and TASER groups decreased immediately post-exposure, by 0.2 mEq/L and 0.3 mEq/L, respectively, and remained decreased through 10 minutes post-exposure. The Heavy Bag group had an immediate post-exposure decrease of 0.4 mEq/L, returned to baseline by eight minutes post-exposure, and increased by 0.3mEq/L at 10 minutes post-exposure. No results were reported for the Pepper Spray group. The increase in lactate level reflects a metabolic acidosis, likely due to skeletal muscle anaerobic metabolism. The decrease in pH is influenced by this lacticemia, though other factors may contribute to the overall acidosis. The decline in serum potassium for Groups 1-4 suggest that blood samples were taken during recovery, not immediately post-exertion.

A third study by Ho et al. exposed 38 volunteers to HEMI from a TASER X-26 device for 15 seconds.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Volunteers completed intense physical exercise to induce anaerobic exhaustion, push-ups followed by running on a treadmill. Then a second blood sample was drawn. This was followed by HEMI exposure for 15 seconds while in a supine position. Then a third blood sample was drawn. A final blood sample was drawn 16 to 24 hours after HEMI exposure. Mean blood potassium was 3.9 at baseline. The authors did not state what units were used, though mM/L is equivalent to mg/dL. The mean serum potassium level rose to 4.2 after exercise, decreased to 3.8 after EMI exposure, and reached 4.1 the next day. The increase in blood potassium immediately after exercise may reflect a shift from intracellular to extracellular spaces or damage to muscle cells such that intracellular potassium was released. The discussion of this study under the Respiratory Dysfunction section explains how a mixed respiratory and metabolic acidosis occurred. All of these potassium levels are considered within the normal range for humans.

In a second study by Jauchem et al. 10 anesthetized swine were exposed to 30 or 60 seconds of EMI from a device similar to a TASER X-26 and the animals were monitored until 180 seconds after exposure.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Mean blood glucose was not elevated after a single five second EMI exposure, but was modestly elevated between 105 and 135 mg/dL for the 30 and 60 second exposures. Mean blood sodium and potassium levels were increased immediately after EMI exposure, to 144 mM/L and 6.2 mM/L respectively, but returned to baseline levels by the next assay time after end of EMI exposure.

Lu et al. exposed 15 swine to EMI in a two phase study.⁴⁰ Phase 1 exposed swine to an initial 30 seconds of EMI, then a five second pause, followed by alternating five seconds on and five seconds off until death. Phase 2 exposed swine to either 12 or 22.5 minutes of EMI exposure. Venous blood samples were collected every five minutes during EMI, immediately post-exposure, and every 15 minutes after EMI termination for an additional four hours. Results from the Phase 2 exposures are presented numerically in Tables 1 and 2.

Table 1. Blood chemistry changes during 12 minutes of electromuscular incapacitation exposures.

Blood Test	Baseline	<u>5 min</u>	<u>10 min</u>	<u>12 min</u>	<u>1 hour</u>	2 hours	<u>3 hours</u>	4 hours
$pO_2 (mm Hg)$	78	27	26	36	46	46	54	56
pCO ₂ (mm Hg)	72	>115	112	98	76	72	80	72
pН	7.32	6.98	6.89	6.91	7.05	7.19	7.23	7.29
Lactate (mg/dL)	1	>15	>15	>15	>15	10.2	6.4	5.2
Sodium (mM/L)	137	144	144	147	140	137	136	135
Potassium (mM/L)	3.8	7.6	7	6.6	4.2	4.7	5	5
Glucose (mg/dL)	65	135	205	200	170	120	105	100
Calcium (mM/L) * Survivors (N = 6)	1.39	1.44	1.39	1.36	1.29*	1.28*	1.31*	1.29*

T 11 0	D1 1	1	1	1 .	22 5	• ,	C 1 4	1	• • •
I apre 2	BIOOD	chemisti	v changes	during	11.7	minutes	of electro	omuscular	incapacitation.
1 4010 2.	Dioou	0110111100	y enanges	~~~ <u>~</u>		1111114000	01 010001	Jiiiabeaiai	moupaertation.

Blood Test	Baseline	<u>5 min</u>	<u>10 min</u>	<u>15 min</u>	<u>20 min</u>	<u>22.5 min</u>	<u>1 hour</u>	2 hours	3 hours	<u>4 hours</u>
pO ₂ (mm Hg)	82	24	34	32	36	46	47	50	49	50
pCO ₂ (mm Hg)	74	>115	106	110	108	90	84	72	68	64
рН	7.34	6.92	6.88	6.87	6.86	6.9	6.98	7.16	7.27	7.28
Lactate (mg/dL)	1	>15	>15	>15	>15	>15	>15	12	9	7.2
Sodium (mM/L)	140	148	148	148	148	147	143	143	139	139
Potassium (mM/L)	3.9	9.2	6.8	6.8	6.3	6.2	4.7	5.2	5.3	5.2
Glucose (mg/dL)	75	160	195	215	220	235	220	170	130	115
Calcium (mM/L)	1.38	1.44	1.36	1.36	1.36	1.32	1.22	1.24	1.30	1.30

Mean blood sodium increased by five minutes of EMI, and remained elevated until one hour after EMI. The normal upper limit of sodium for swine is approximately the same as for humans, 145 mM/L. This result shows a slight rise in blood sodium that is not of clinical consequence. Mean blood potassium peaked after five minutes of EMI, and decreased by 10 minutes of EMI. The human upper limit of normal for potassium is about 4.9 mM/L. This level shows a significant elevation, with a risk for ventricular arrhythmias. Mean blood calcium was 1.38 mM/L at baseline, increased to 1.44 mM/L after five minutes, declined to 1.35 mM/L after 10 minutes and remained there until cessation of EMI. Mean blood calcium decreased to a nadir of 1.21 mM/L at 90 minutes after cessation of EMI and gradually increased over time, plateauing around a level of 1.29 mM/L for times greater than two hours after cessation of EMI. Beyond five minutes of EMI exposure, the modest decline in blood calcium level is consistent with the level of acidosis observed. Mean blood glucose peaked at 205 mg/dL prior to cessation of EMI in the 12 minutes exposure group but peaked at 235 mg/dL in the 22.5 minutes exposure group when cessation was terminated. Mean blood glucose declined to the upper limit of normal for both exposure groups by four hours after cessation of EMI. The persistent elevation of pH, with elevated lactate levels and normal carbon dioxide levels despite depressed levels of oxygen, indicates that metabolic acidosis was the primary cause of acidosis during prolonged EMI exposure.

VanMeenen et al. studied 118 law enforcement officers undergoing TASER training.^{Error! Bookmark} ^{not defined.} Blood samples were obtained the day prior or the morning of exposure. Post-exposure blood samples were obtained a mean of 21.1 hours after exposure. Mean serum sodium, potassium, chloride, calcium, and glucose showed no significant differences between pre- and post-exposures levels.

Dawes et al. exposed 53 volunteers to a TASER X3 device for 10 seconds.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Venous blood was sampled for electrolytes at baseline and immediately after HEMI exposure. Results were reported in aggregate rather than by exposure group. Mean baseline sodium, potassium, ionized calcium, and glucose showed mild increases after HEMI exposure, but the changes were not of clinical significance.

2.6 Seizures

Three case reports for one of a pair of HEMI electrodes attaching to the head were found in the medical literature. Bui et al. report that a generalized tonic-clonic seizure with residual neurological symptoms ensued from the HEMI exposure.⁴¹ Chandler described an individual with a normal neurological examination an indeterminate time after a five second HEMI exposure.⁴² Rehman, et al., reported a period of unconsciousness "for almost 5 minutes" after a HEMI exposure, apparently of 5 seconds duration.⁴³ This person had a normal neurological examination with a mild headache and feeling "shaken" as the only symptoms.

Lu et al. exposed 15 swine to three different electrical stimuli via cranial electrodes.⁴⁴ The three different waveforms included: a typical electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) stimulus used as a positive control, a waveform ("EMI") similar to a commercially marketed EMI device, and an in-house developed waveform ("HEMI"). The latter two waveform exposures were of three different durations presented sequentially: 60, 120, or 180 msec; separated by at least a five minute pause or until a seizure was induced. The "EMI" waveform induced a generalized tonic-clonic seizure in one of 10 exposures lasting 60 seconds, and an absence (petit mal) seizure in one of nine exposures lasting 120 seconds, but no seizure in nine exposures lasting 180 seconds. Of note, the "HEMI" waveform failed to produce a seizure for any duration. The authors relate this to the 95th percentile spectral frequency (SEF) of total spectral power. Significant increases in SEF were found only for the "EMI" waveform.

2.7 Vertebral Compression Fractures

There are two repeatedly publicized cases of law enforcement officers suffering vertebral compression fractures during training exposures with the TASER X-26 device.^{45,46} TASER modified training materials to include a six part informed consent document that mentions the possibility of fractures occurring as a result of TASER exposure. There are only three reports of TASER associated fractures in the medical literature.

Winslow et al. reported that an otherwise healthy 38-year-old man suffered compression fractures of the T6 and T8 vertebrae, plus anterior wedging of the L2 vertebra, as the result of a five second HEMI exposure during law enforcement training with the TASER X-26.⁴⁷

Sloane et al. reported that a 37-year-old man suffered a compression fracture of the T7 vertebra as the result of a five second HEMI exposure during law enforcement training with the TASER X-26.⁴⁸ The radiologist commented that this individual had diffuse osteopenia greater than expected for his age. Osteopenia is a loss of bone mineral density, though not as severe as osteoporosis. It can place a person at increased risk factor for fracture. The authors recommended obtaining spinal radiographs for any individual complaining of back pain after HEMI exposure. This strategy will not reduce the risk of fracture.

Vilke et al. reported that one law enforcement officer participating in a study of HEMI physiological effects, suffered a thoracic compression fracture during a five second HEMI exposure with a TASER X-26 device.⁴⁹ TASER darts were fired into each subject's back between the shoulder blades from a range of two to three meters. No other details were provided. The authors modified the study procedures such that all subjects were lying on one side upon a mat with alligator clips attached to the left upper anterior thorax and the right waistline. The intention was to decrease the force of contracture of the strong back muscles. No data was provided to show any difference in the strength of muscle contraction between the original electrode positions and the new positions.

2.8 Other Findings

2.8.1 Long Duration Exposures

Dawes et al. exposed 53 volunteers to a TASER X3 device for 10 seconds.^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Venous blood was assayed for the catecholamines: epinephrine, norepinephrine, and dopamine. Sampling was done at baseline, immediately after HEMI exposure, and every two minutes for 10 minutes. Mean serum epinephrine at baseline was 55 pg/mL, immediately post-exposure increased to 402 pg/mL, at two minutes post-exposure declined to 132.5 pg/mL, and continued to decline until returning to baseline level at eight minutes post-exposure. Mean serum norepinephrine at baseline was 295.5 pg/mL, immediately post-exposure increased to 546.5 pg/mL, at two minutes post-exposure declined to 400 pg/mL, and remained elevated through 10 minutes post-exposure at 373.5 pg/mL. Mean serum dopamine at baseline was 13.5 pg/mL, immediately post-exposure at 18 pg/mL. Blood pressure and heart rate declined from baseline levels. Mean systolic blood pressure at baseline was 151 mm Hg, immediately post-exposure was 145 mm Hg, and

10 minutes post-exposure was 138 mm Hg. Mean diastolic blood pressure at baseline was 85 mm Hg, immediately post-exposure was 83 mm Hg, and 10 minutes post-exposure was 77 mm Hg. Pulse differential, the difference between systolic and diastolic blood pressure, at baseline was 66 mm Hg, immediately post-exposure was 62 mm Hg, and 10 minutes post-exposure was 61 mm Hg. Mean heart rate at baseline was 95 beats per minute, immediately post-exposure was 93 beats per minutes, and 10 minutes post-exposure was 93 beats per minutes, and 10 minutes post-exposure was 88 beats per minute. This may represent a baseline increase of blood pressure and heart rate in anticipation of HEMI exposure or that the increase in catecholamines was not sufficient to affect post-exposure blood pressure and heart rate.

Werner et al. exposed swine to a first EMI exposure of 60 seconds duration, then 60 minutes of rest under anesthesia, followed by a second EMI exposure of 180 seconds duration.⁵¹ A total of 18 swine were exposed with six animals each being exposed to the TASER X26, TASER C2, and Stinger S-200 device. Three animals died during the experiment, one animal died four minutes after the second EMI exposure, and two animals died five and six minutes after the first EMI exposure. Pulse oximetry, hemoglobin oxygen saturation, end-tidal CO2, and EKG were monitored during the experiment. Arterial blood samples were collected at baseline, immediately after the first EMI exposure, just before the second EMI exposure, halfway through the second EMI exposure, three minutes after the second EMI exposure, and five minutes after the second EMI exposure. The authors chose to present the data as differences between the three exposure groups and survival, rather than as a comparison to baseline values. Serum cortisol, catecholamines, lactate, and arterial blood gases were assayed. Mean serum cortisol levels showed no significant difference over time for any group. Mean serum epinephrine and norepinephrine levels increased after the first EMI exposure, with the highest level being seen for the two animals that expired after the first EMI exposure. For the remaining animals, mean serum epinephrine and norepinephrine levels rose during the second EMI exposure and declined after completion of the exposure. Mean serum dopamine levels did not change after the first EMI exposure for the two animals that died. For the remaining animals mean serum dopamine levels increased to a plateau after the first EMI exposure, then increased during the second EMI exposure, and declined after completion of the exposure. Mean serum lactate levels rose after the first EMI exposure and continued to rise through the second EMI exposure, though the Stinger S-200 animals had a decline in lactate between the first and second EMI exposures. The arterial blood gases results were reported only as not statistically different between survivors and non-survivors. All animals showed a mixed metabolic and respiratory acidosis. The authors reported the three animals that died had degenerative cardiomyopathy with low vitamin and selenium levels. They conclude that because all of the animals were obtained from the same source and on the same diet that the low Vitamin E and selenium levels were likely not relevant. No other explanation for the degenerative cardiomyopathy was proposed. Pulseless electrical activity developed prior to death, with no finding of ventricular tachycardia or ventricular fibrillation. The authors postulate that this was due to a sudden decline in blood pressure after EMI exposure ended.

Jenkins et al. evaluated the effects of up to 30 minutes continuous EMI exposure in 10 swine.⁵² Four animals died during EMI exposure, two after about four minutes of exposure and two more after about 10 minutes of exposure. The surviving animals received EMI exposures of 10, 20, 25, 30, 30, and 30 minute's duration. All animals developed a mixed metabolic and respiratory acidosis. The authors chose to emphasize the data as differences between deceased and surviving animals, rather than as comparisons to baseline values. Mean serum lactate increased within one minute of EMI exposure and continued to increase until reaching a plateau of 19 mM/L at 15 minutes. Mean serum pH, base excess, and bicarbonate all declined upon EMI exposure and continued decreasing until reaching a plateau at 15 minutes, with values of 6.9, 18mM/L, and 16 mM/L, respectively. During a pilot study, the animals were dying due to hypoventilation with subsequent hypoxia. For this study, all animals were ventilated using a constant pressure mode. Ventilation tidal volume decreased during EMI due to muscle stiffness. After 60 to 90 seconds diaphragmatic breathing was observed. Mean statistics were presented for mean pCO_2 and pO_2 values across time. For survivors, mean pCO₂ increased from a baseline of 36.85 mm Hg, to 109.08 mm Hg by three minutes, after which pCO_2 reached a plateau. In contrast, for non-survivors mean pCO_2 increased to 81.43 mm Hg by three minutes and then declined to 72.0 mm Hg by four minutes. For survivors, mean pO₂ decreased from a baseline of 439.33 mm Hg, to 323.6 mm Hg by two minutes and varied about this level afterward. For non-survivors, mean pO₂ decreased to 192.75 mm Hg by two minutes, increased to 233.0 mm Hg by three minutes, and varied about this level thereafter. Mean serum lactate continually increased for survivors, from a baseline of 1.27 mM/L, to 18.79 mM/L by five minutes. For nonsurvivors, mean serum lactate increased from a baseline of 1.23 mM/L, to 10. 25 mM/L by two minutes, and increased slightly after this to 12.25 mm Hg by five minutes. Statistical significance was seen for the differences in mean serum pCO_2 and lactate, but not pO₂. A larger sample population may have detected a statistically significant difference for pO₂. These results show an association between higher measures of serum acidosis and survival. No obvious explanation was found. It was observed that after an initial period of anaerobic exercise, the muscles relaxed and entered a temporary aerobic condition. This could explain the rise in lactate, with buffering causing a decrease in bicarbonate, rise in pCO_2 , and decrease in base excess.

2.8.2 Skin Changes

None of the EMI research literature specifically discusses the effect on skin. The 2005 TERA technical report, AFRL-BR-TR-2005-0016, found burns and lacerations had minor operational significance. ^{Error! Bookmark not defined.} Some articles on law enforcement use of HEMI mention the risk of laceration and infection associated with removing the barbs deployed by current TASER devices. Many TASER training courses use alligator clips to attach the electrodes to the skin, which avoids laceration and infection.

2.8.3 Electrode Placement

Ho et al. studied the effect of electrode location and spread on ability to complete a goaldirected task during HEMI.⁵³ Thirty law enforcement officers were exposed for up to 20 seconds while attempting to cross a 10-foot distance and touch a target with a rubber knife. Electrode orientation were varied by right or left side, front or back, and spread (4, 6, 9, 12, 16, and 20 inches). The authors concluded that a minimum electrode spread of 9 inches is necessary to confidently prevent the goal-directed movement toward a target.

3.0 DISCUSSION

3.1 Muscle Injury Risks

Evidence from the majority of six studies shows muscle injury occurring in association with HEMI. None of the laboratory-based studies found CK levels exceeding that seen during exercise. Jauchem noted muscle injury in swine after repeated five second EMI exposures, though none of the findings were greater than seen during physical exercise. Criscione found no clinically significant changes in serum CK or myoglobin after five second HEMI exposures in humans. A retrospective review by Strote of 271 ED visits after TASER exposure showed CK elevations >1000 IU/L in 10 of 23 patients. Only 8.5% of patients had CK assays done and no explanation of other potential causes for CK elevation was given. Ho found no elevation of CK 24-hours post-TASER exposure. A meta-analysis of five studies by Dawes found mean increases in CK of 26.5, 303, and 47 IU/L after 24 hours, for TASER exposures of 5, 10, and 30 seconds duration, respectively. Individual CK elevations increased more than 25,000 IU/L after a single 5-second TASER exposure. Though mean CK increases were small, individual changes were clinically significant.

Serum myoglobin levels were elevated in two five-second HEMI exposure studies. These increases were not clinically significant. Only one swine study with extended duration EMI exposures has measured serum myoglobin levels. Serum myoglobin levels were elevated but not of clinical significance. Because of the potential for kidney damage, it is prudent with extended duration HEMI exposures to measure serum myoglobin levels to verify that no clinically significant increase occurs.

Serum CK and myoglobin levels should be monitored for all experimental HEMI exposures.

3.2 Cardiac Rhythm Disturbance Risks

Voorhees reported that the ventricular fibrillation threshold for mongrel dogs is 12 times the cardiac capture threshold. Nanthakumar found in swine that an electrode orientation over the long axis of the heart had a greater likelihood of producing cardiac capture than a transabdominal orientation. Valentino studied electrode orientation in four swine and produced cardiac capture for 23 of 27 ventral trans-cardiac electrode trials, zero of eight ventral non-transdiaphragmatic electrode trials, and zero of four dorsal electrode trials. Beason reported that the 50% ventricular fibrillation threshold for 10 swine was four-to-five times the output of a TASER X-26.

Cardiac rhythm effects have been documented when HEMI electrodes are attached to the anterior thorax, particularly when aligned with the cardiac long axis. Placing HEMI electrodes on the posterior thorax will reduce, if not eliminate, the risk of cardiac effects. One drawback of this approach is that it is not suitable for any evaluation of cardiac effects. Evaluations of HEMI cardiac effects will require the use of an electrical load target or an animal model before considering human studies to avoid inducing serious change in cardiac activity. A second drawback is that posterior thoracic electrode placement increases the risk of a vertebral fracture. (This topic is discussed later in this paper.) A right ventral, trans-diaphragmatic orientation of electrodes appears best to minimize the risk of cardiac rhythm effects and not increase the risk of vertebral fracture. Alternative electrode orientations can be used when knowledge about specific effects is sought.

3.3 Myocardial Injury Risks

None of the above studies found evidence of myocardial injury with EMI exposures up to 3 minutes. One case report of myocardial infarction was associated with HEMI exposure involved dart electrodes over the heart. As for preventing cardiac rhythm effects, a right ventral, transdiaphragmatic orientation of electrodes will minimize the risk of myocardial injury.

3.4 Respiratory Dysfunction Risks

Respiratory acidosis is a significant physiological disturbance after EMI stimulation greater than five seconds duration. Esquivel and Walter exposed anesthetized swine to continuous EMI of 25 and 40 seconds duration, respectively. Both found mild respiratory and metabolic acidosis that resolved by 60 minutes post-exposure. Jauchem exposed anesthetized swine to three minute cyclic sessions of EMI exposure in two different studies, the major difference being five seconds on and five seconds off versus seven seconds on and three seconds off. The seven second EMI exposure bursts resulted in a greater reduction in respiratory rate and a 60% lethality rate. Collaborators Ho and Dawes performed human EMI exposure studies of 10, 15, and 30 seconds' duration. The shorter duration exposures resulted in an expected increase in pCO₂ while the 30 second exposure showed a decrease in pCO₂. Restricted ventilatory movement can occur during HEMI, with a resultant decrease in tidal volume and minute ventilation. Compensation can occur through an increased respiratory rate, as evidenced by a mean of 35 breaths per minute in the first study by Dawes. Lung volumes reported in the two studies by Dawes are consistent with hyperventilation from volunteers actively taking deep breaths. Verbal communication indicates that Ho and Dawes had volunteers actively coached to breath during EMI exposures. Pain might also cause an increase in respiratory rate. Neither pain response, nor a voluntary increase in respiratory effort, is possible with appropriately anesthetized swine.

Tidal volume includes gas movement through the trachea and bronchi, where no gas exchange takes place, approximately 150 mL, known as anatomic dead space. The decrease in tidal volume during HEMI exposure yields a greater percentage decrease in effective gas exchange than the simple decrease in tidal volume indicates. With an average tidal volume of 0.5 L, an

average anatomic dead space of 0.15 L results in an effective gas exchange of 0.35 L or 70% of the tidal volume. A decrease in tidal volume of only 10% to 0.45 L, with the same anatomic dead space of 0.15 L, yields an effective gas exchange of 0.30 L, a 15% reduction, not 10%. Any percentage increase in respiratory rate must be greater than the percentage decrease in tidal volume to maintain the baseline effective gas exchange.

Hypercarbia, the buildup of carbon dioxide, gives the initial drive to breathe during inadequate ventilation. Hyperventilation to the point of respiratory alkalosis, noted by subjective paresthesias, can minimize the possibility of hypercarbia. Hypoxia, the lack of adequate oxygen, gives the second rive to breathe during inadequate ventilation. By combining hyperventilation with breathing 100% oxygen for one minute to prevent hypoxia, individuals have been able to stay submerged in water for over twelve minutes without breathing. Respiratory alkalosis and hyperoxia are not suitable when assessing metabolic effects, but may be useful during extended HEMI exposures when assessment of muscle incapacitation is the primary outcome measure. It is prudent to limit human EMI exposures to no more than 15 seconds duration until the results of Ho and Dawes are verified.

3.5 Electrolyte Imbalances Risks

Electrolyte imbalances during and after EMI exposure have been shown to occur with acidosis, primarily of metabolic rather than respiratory origin. The magnitude of acidosis increases with longer durations of EMI exposure, up to a certain point, and frequently with pH < 7.20, defined as severe acidosis. A 10-second HEMI exposure caused significant changes in pH, lactate, and potassium levels. It is prudent to limit extended duration human EMI exposures to 10 seconds until additional data is available to confirm or refute electrolyte level changes reported to date.

3.6 Seizure Risks

Seizures are a possibility if one or both HEMI electrodes attach to the head. If cranial attachment is a study condition, then the actual waveform utilized appears to influence the possibility of seizure activity. By deliberately placing the HEMI electrodes upon the torso, the risk of a seizure is eliminated.

3.7 Skin Changes

Anecdotal comments from a USAF Security Forces TASER instructor indicates that skin trauma, due to minor electrical burns, may occur with the use alligator clips. No report of this was found in the medical literature. Observation will be needed to determine the presence or absence of electrical burn. This should be included in the Informed Consent Document as a possible risk of participation in a HEMI experiment. Standard medical treatment with topical corticosteroid preparations can be used to minimize tissue reaction should an electrical burn be identified. Intralesional injection with a corticosteroid can be used if topical preparations are not effective. Individuals with a history of keloid formation are at increased risk for permanent scarring and should be excluded from HEMI exposures.

4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

Serum CK and myoglobin levels should be monitored for skeletal muscle injury with all experimental HEMI exposures.

It is prudent to limit extended duration human EMI exposures to 10 seconds until additional data is available to confirm or refute electrolyte level changes reported to date. This also keeps human EMI exposures below 15 seconds duration until the absence of respiratory dysfunction is verified.

Placing the HEMI electrodes with a right ventral, trans-diaphragmatic orientation appears best to minimize the risk of cardiac rhythm effects and not increase the risk of vertebral compression fracture. This orientation also avoids the risk of a seizure.

Specific monitoring for cardiac muscle injury is not warranted, based upon the currently available literature. Since blood testing will be necessary for muscle injury and electrolyte imbalance assessments, adding cardiac enzymes will not increase human subject risk and may benefit overall HEMI physiology knowledge as longer duration exposures are proposed. Individuals with known cardiac disease or strong risk factors, based upon the American Heart Association/American College of Sports Medicine Health/Fitness Facility Pre-participation Screening Questionnaire should be excluded from participation in HEMI studies.⁵⁴

Pre- and post-exposure skin examination will be required during HEMI experiments to assess the presence or absence of electrical burn. This should be included in the ICD as a possible risk of participation in a HEMI experiment. Persons with a history of keloid formation should be excluded from participation in HEMI studies.

REFERENCES

¹ Comeaux JA & D'Andrea J. (2012). *Risk and effects assessment of electro-muscular incapacitation (EMI) technologies* (Technical Report, NAMRU-SA TR 2012-01). Fort Sam Houston: Naval Medical Research Unit-San Antonio.

² Maier A, Nance P, Price P, Sherry C, Reilly JP, Klauenberg BJ, Crummond J. (2005). *Human effectiveness and risk characterization of the electromuscular incapacitation device – A limited analysis of the TASER*. (Technical Report AFRL-BR-TR-2005-0016). Brooks City-Base: Directed Energy Bioeffects Division.

³ Bozeman WP, Hauda WE, Heck JJ, Graham DD, Martin BP, Winslow JE (2009). Safety and injury profile of conducted electrical weapons used by law enforcement officers against criminal suspects. *Ann Emerg Med*; *53*(4):480-489.

⁴ Ho JD, Miner JR, Lakireddy DR, Bultman LL, Heegaard WG (2006). Cardiovascular and Physiologic Effects of Conducted Electrical Weapon Discharge in Resting Adults. *Acad Emerg Med*; *13*(6):589-595.

⁵ Jauchem JR, Cook MC, Beason CW (2008). Blood factors of Sus scrofa following a series of three TASER electronic control device exposures. *Forensic Sci Int; 175*:166-170.

⁶ Criscione J., (2009). An independent assessment of the physiological and cognitive effects from the X-26 TASER device in volunteer human subjects. (Technical Report W911QY-08-C-0023). Texas A&M University: Department of Biomedical Engineering.

⁷ Strote J, Walsh M, Angelidis M, Basta A, Hutson HR (2010). Conducted electrical weapon use by law enforcement: An evaluation of safety and injury. *J Trauma; 68*:1239-1246.

⁸ Ho JD, Dawes DM, Nelson RS, Lundin EJ, Ryan FJ, Overton KG, Zeiders AJ, Miner JR (2010). Acidosis and catecholamine evaluation following simulated law enforcement "use of force" encounters. *Acad Emerg Med*; 17:e60-e68.

⁹ Dawes DM, Ho JD, Sweeney JD, Lundin EJ, Kunz SN, Miner JR (2011a). The effect of an electronic control device on muscle injury as determined by creatine kinase enzyme. *Forensic Sci Med Pathol*; 7: 3-8.

¹⁰ Dawes DM, Ho JD, Reardon RF, Strote SR, Nelson RS, Lundin EJ, Orozco BS, Kunz SN, Miner JR (2011b). The respiratory, metabolic, and neuroendocrine effects of a new generation electronic control device. *Forensic Sci Int;* 207(1-3):55-60.

¹¹ National Institute of Justice (2011). Study of deaths following electromuscular disruption. Washington, D.C.: National Institute of Justice. NCJ 233432. www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/233432.pdf ¹² Voorhees WD III, Foster KS, Geddes LA, Babbs CF (1984). Safety factor for precordial pacing: minimum current thresholds for pacing and for ventricular fibrillation by vulnerable-period stimulation. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol;* 7 (3 Pt 1):356-360.

¹³ Nanthakumar K, Billingsley IM, Masse S, Dorian P, Cameron D, Chauhan VS, Downar E, Sevaptsidis E (2006). Cardiac electrophysiological consequences of neuromuscular incapacitating device discharges. *J Am Coll Cardiol; 48*(4):798-804.

¹⁴ Levine SD, Sloane CM, Chan TC, Dunford JV, Vilke GM (2007). Cardiac monitoring of human subjects exposed to the TASER. *J Emerg Med; 33*(2):113-117.

¹⁵ Valentino DJ, Walter RJ, Dennis AJ, Margeta B, Starr F, Nagy KK, Bokhari F, Wiley DE, Joseph KT, Roberts RR (2008). Taser X26 discharges in swine: ventricular rhythm capture is dependent on discharge vector. *J Trauma*; 65:1478-1485.

¹⁶ Beason CW, Jauchem JR, Clark CD, Parker JE, Fines DA (2009). Pulse variations of a conducted energy weapon (similar to the TASER® X26 device): effects on muscle contraction and threshold for ventricular fibrillation. *J Forensic Sci;* 54:1113-1118.

¹⁷ Ho JD, Dawes DM, Reardon RF, Strote SR, Kunz SN, Nelson RS, Lundin EJ, Orozco BS, Miner JR (2011). Human cardiovascular effects of a new generation conducted electrical weapon. *Forensic Sci Int;* 204:50-57.

¹⁸ Blackwell N, Hayllar J (2002). A three year prospective audit of 212 presentations to the emergency department after electrical injury with a management protocol. *Postgrad Med J*; 78(919):283-285.

¹⁹ Wu J-Y, Sun H, O'Rourke AP, Huebner S, Rahko PS, Will JA, Webster JG (2007). Taser dartto-heart distance that causes ventricular fibrillation in pigs. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*; 54:503-508.

²⁰ Walter RJ, Dennis AJ, Valentino DJ, Margeta B, Nagy KK, Bokhari F, Wiley DE, Joseph KT, Roberts RR (2008). TASER X26 discharges in swine produce potentially fatal ventricular arrhythmias. *Acad Emerg Med*; 15:66-73.

²¹ Lakkireddy D, Wallick D, Verma A, Ryschon K, Kowalewski W, Wazni O, Butany J, Martin D, Tchou PJ (2008). Cardiac effects of electrical stun guns: does position of barbs contact make a difference? *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol; 31*:398-408.

²² Swerdlow CD, Fishbein MC, Chaman L, Lakkireddy DR, Tchou P (2009). Presenting rhythm in sudden deaths temporally proximate to discharge of TASER conducted electrical weapons. *Acad Emerg Med*; *16*:726-739.

²³ Ho JD, Dawes DM, Heegaard WG, Calkins HG, Moscati RM, Miner JR (2009a). Absence of electrocardiographic change after prolonged application of a conducted electrical weapon in physically exhausted adults. *J Emerg Med*; *41*(5):466-472.

²⁴ Kroll MW, Panescu D, Carver M, Kroll RM, Hinz AF (2009). Cardiac effects of varying pulse charge and polarity of TASER conducted electrical weapons. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc; 3195-3198.

²⁵ VanMeenen KM, Cherniack NS, Bergen MT, Gleason LA, Teichman R, Servatius RJ (2010). Cardiovascular evaluation of electronic control device exposure in law enforcement trainees: a multisite study. *J Occup Environ Med;* 52(2):197-201.

²⁶ Dawes DM, Ho JD, Reardon RF, Miner JR (2010). The cardiovascular, respiratory, and metabolic effects of a long duration electronic control device exposure in human volunteers. *Forensic Sci Med Pathol;* 6:268-274.

²⁷ Havranek J, Neuzil P, Linhart A (2015). Electromuscular incapacitation devices discharge and risk of severe bradycardia. *Am J Forensic Med Pathol*; 2015 Feb 23 (Epub ahead of print).

²⁸ Jauchem JR, Sherry CJ, Fines DA, Cook MC (2006). Acidosis, lactate, electrolytes, muscle enzymes, and other factors in the blood of Sus scrofa following repeated TASER® exposures. *Forensic Sci Int; 161*:20-30.

²⁹ Vilke GM, Sloane CM, Bouton KD, Kolkhorst FW, Levine SD, Neuman TS, Castillo EM, Chan TC (2007). Physiological effects of a conducted electrical weapon on human subjects. *Ann Emerg Med*; *50*(5):569-575.

³⁰ Sloane CM, Chan TC, Levine SD, Dunford JV, Neuman T, Vilke GM (2008a). Serum troponin I measurement of subjects exposed to the TASER X-26®. *J Emerg Med*; 35(1):29-32.

³¹ Belen E, Tipi FF, Bayyigit A, Helvaci AS (2015). Acute inferior myocardial infarction after electrical weapon exposure: Case report and review of the literature. *Arch Turk Soc Cardiol; 43*(2):178-181.

³² Ho JD, Dawes DM, Bultman LL, Thacker JL, Skinner LD, Bahe JM, Johnson MA, Miner JR (2007). Respiratory effect of prolonged electrical weapon application on human volunteers. *Acad Emerg Med*; *14*(3):197-201.

³³ Esquivel AO, Dawe EJ, Sala-Mercado JA, Hammond RL, Bir CA (2007). The physiologic effects of a conducted electrical weapon in swine. *Ann Emerg Med;* 50:576-583.

³⁴ Ho J, Lapine A, Joing S, Reardon R (2008). Conformation of respiration during trapezial conducted electrical weapon application. *Acad Emerg Med*; *15*(4):398.

³⁵ Ho JD, Dawes DM, Bultman LL, Moscati RM, Janchar TA, Miner JR (2009b). Prolonged TASER use on exhausted humans does not worsen markers of acidosis. *Am J Emerg Med*; 27:413-418.

³⁶ Jauchem JR, Beason CW, Cook MC (2009). Acute effects of an alternative electronic-controldevice waveform in swine. *Forensic Sci Med Pathol; 5*(1):2-10.

³⁷ Jauchem JR, Seaman RL, Klages CM (2009). Physiological effects of the TASER C2 conducted energy weapon. *Forensic Sci Med Pathol*; *5*(3):189-190.

³⁸ Jauchem JR, Seaman RL, Fines DA (2011). Survival of anesthetized *Sus scrofa* after cycling (7-second on/3-second off) exposures to an electronic control device for 3 minutes. *Am J Med Pathol; 32*(2):124-130.

³⁹ VanMeenen KM, Lavietes MH, Cherniack NS, Bergen MT, Teichman R, Servatius RJ (2013). Respiratory and cardiovascular response during electronic control device exposure in law enforcement trainees. *Front Physiol;* 4:78.

⁴⁰ Gabow PA, Peterson LN. (1992). *Renal and Electrolyte Disorders*. RW Schrier (Ed.) Boston: Little Brown and Co., pg 273.

⁴¹ Lu ST, Ziriax JM, Klages C, Crane C, Comeaux J, Cox D, Fines D, D'Andrea JA (2008). *Acute biological effects of extended TASER X-26 stimulation in swine (Sus scrofa domestica).* (Technical Report NHRC-DEBL-TR-2008-01). Brooks City-Base: Naval Health Research Center Detachment.

⁴² Bui ET, Sourkes M, Wennberg R (2009) Generalized tonic-clonic seizure after taser shot to the head. *CMAJ*; 180(6):625-626.

⁴³ Chandler J, Martin BP, Graham DD (2011). TASER® injury to the forehead. *J Emerg Med*; 44(1):e67-e68.

⁴⁴ Rehman T-U, Yonas H, Marinaro J (2007). Intracranial penetration of a TASER dart. *Am J Emerg Med*; 25:733.e3-733.e4.

⁴⁵ Lu ST, Ziriax JM, Chalfin S, Harrison JM, Crane CC, Cox DD, Comeaux JA, Garay R (2010). *Central nervous system and cardiac effects of electromuscular incapacitation stimulation applied cranially in swine (Sus scrofa domestica).* (Technical Report NAMRU-SA TR-2010-13). Brooks City-Base: Naval Medical Research Unit San Antonio.

⁴⁶ Grimes A. (2011). Dallas PD trainee goes a TASER too far. *Dallas Observer*. January 11, 2011. Retrieved September 18, 2015, from http://www.dallasobserver.com/news/dallas-pd-trainee-goes-a-taser-too-far-7106763

⁴⁷ Anglen R. (2004). Officer's injury raises concern over TASER use. *USA Today*. December 29, 2004. Retrieved September 18, 2015, from usatoday30.usatoday.com/tech/news/2004-12-29-stun-gun-danger_x.htm

⁴⁸ Winslow JE, Bozeman WP, Fortner MC, Alson RL (2007). Thoracic compression fractures as a result of shock from a conducted energy weapon: a case report. *Ann Emerg Med; 50*(5):584-586.

⁴⁹ Sloane CM, Chan TC, Vilke GM (2008). Thoracic spine compression fracture after TASER activation. *J Emerg Med*; *34*(3):283-285.

⁵⁰ Vilke GM, Sloane CM, Suffecool A, Kolkhorst FW, Neuman TS, Castillo EM, Chan TC (2009). Physiologic effects of the TASER after exercise. *Acad Emerg Med; 16*(8):704-710.

⁵¹ Werner JR, Jenkins DM, Murray WB, Hughes EL, Bienus DA, Kennett MJ (2012). Human Electromuscular incapacitation devices characterization: A comparative study on stress and the physiological effects on swine. *J Strength Cond Res;* 26(3):804-810.

⁵² Jenkins DM, Murray WB, Kennett MJ, Hughes EL, Werner JR (2013). The effects of continuous application of the TASER X26 waveform on Sus scrofa. *J Forensic Sci;* 58(3):684-692.

⁵³ Ho J, Dawes D, Miner J, Kunz S, Nelson R, Sweeney J (2012). Conducted electrical weapon incapacitation during a goal-directed task as a function of probe spread. *Forensic Sci Med Pathol; 8*(4):358-366.

⁵⁴ Baladt GJ, Chaitman B, Driscoll D, Foster C, Froelicher E, Gordon N, Pate R, Rippe J, Bazzarre T. (1998) AHA/ACSM joint position statement: Recommendations for cardiovascular screening, staffing, and emergency policies at health/fitness facilities. *Med Sci Sports Exerc; 30*(6):1009-1018.